UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

INSTITUTE OF DIPLOMACY AND INTERNATIONAL STUDIES

REGIONAL COLLECTIVE SECURITY MECHANISMS IN EASTERN AFRICA: THE CASE OF THE EASTERN AFRICA STANDBY FORCE FROM 2004-2015

NINA H. OMANYO

SUPERVISOR: PROF. MARIA NZOMO

A Research Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements of the Degree of Masters of Arts in International Conflict Management.

October 2015

DECLARATION

This Research Project is my original work and has not been submitted for the award of a degree		
in any other institution of higher learning.		
Signature:	Date:	
Nina Helga Omanyo		
Reg No: R50/63690/2010		
Supervisor.		
This Research Project has been submitted for examination with my approval as a University of		
Nairobi Supervisor.		
Signature:	Date:	
Prof. Maria Nzomo		
Institute of Diplomacy and International Studies		
University of Nairobi		

DEDICATION

To my late dad, J.J Omanyo for having instilled in me the importance of education and the need of going to greater lengths in all aspects of life; and to my wonderful children, Imani, Joshua and Alma, whose precious time I sacrificed to complete this project.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I wish to thank the Almighty God who has given me life, strength, health and tenacity to complete this project that was so near yet far.

I humbly express my gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Maria Nzomo for her invaluable advice and correction, patience, effective guidance, and understanding in the course of writing this research project.

Special thanks to my special family for your patience, prayers and support throughout this long journey of seeking knowledge.

My sincere gratitude to the team leader George, for the invaluable encouragement even when the journey seemed like it would never come to an end. Thank you!

God bless you all!

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AMIB African Union Mission in Burundi

AMIS AU Mission in Sudan

AMISOM Africa Mission in Somalia

APSA African Union Peace and Security Architecture

ASF African Standby Force

AU African Union

CADSP Common African Defence and Security Policy

CEWARN Conflict Early Warning and Response Mechanism

CEWS Continental Early Warning System

COMESA Common Market for East and Southern Africa

COMWARN COMESA Conflict Early Warning System

CPMR Conflict Prevention Management and Resolution

CSSDA Conference on Security, Stability, Development and Cooperation in

Africa

DFID Department for International Development

DMZ Demilitarized Zone

EAC East African Community

EACDS Eastern African Chiefs of Defence Staff

EAPSA Eastern African Peace and Security Architecture SALW

EAPSM Eastern Africa Peace and Security Mechanism

EAPSS Eastern African Peace and Security Secretariat

EASBRIG HQ Eastern Africa Standby Brigade Headquarters

EASBRIG Eastern Africa Standby Brigade

EASF Eastern Africa Standby Force

EASFCOM Eastern Africa Standby Force Coordination Mechanism

ECOMOG ECOWAS Ceasefire and Monitoring Group

ECOWAS Economic Community of Western African States

ELF Eritrean Liberation Front

ESA Eastern and Southern Africa

ESF ECOWAS Standby Force

EU European Union

F.O.C Full Operation Capability

FOMAC Economic Community of Central African States (ECCAS) Standby Force

GLR Great Lakes Region

ICGLR International Conference on the Great Lakes Region

ICPAT IGAD Capacity Building Program against Terrorism

ICRC International Community of the Red Cross

IGAD Inter- Governmental Authority on Development

IGADD Inter- Governmental Authority on Drought and Desertification

IGASOM IGAD Peace Support force in Somalia

IPSTC International Peace Support Training Centre

JEM Justice and Equality Movement

LD Logistics Depot

LOGBASE Logistics Base

LoN League of Nations

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

NARC North African Regional Capability

NASBBRIG North Africa Regional Standby Brigade

NASBRIG North African Regional Capability Standby Force

NATO Northern Atlantic Treaty Organization

NCM National Coordination Mechanisms

NMOG Neutral Military Observer Group

OAU Organization of African Union

OLMEE OAU/AU Liaison Mission in Ethiopia-Eritrea

PAN Protocol on Non-Aggression

PLANELM Planning Element

PMAD Protocol on Mutual Assistance on Defence

PSC Peace and Security Council

PSO Peace Support Operations

PTA Preferential Trade Area for Eastern and Southern Africa

RECs Regional Economic Communities

RECSA Regional Center for the Control of Small Arms and Light Weapons

RIMC Regional Inter-Ministerial Committee

RINR Regional Initiative against the Illegal Exploitation of Natural Resources

RSCT Regional Security Complex Theory

SADC Southern African Development Community

SALW Small Arms and Light Weapons

SCT Security Complex Theory

SHIRBRIG Standby High-Readiness Brigade

SPLM/A Sudanese Peoples' Liberation Movement /Army

SRO Sub regional Organizations

SSF SADC Standby Force

UN United Nations

UNAMID United Nations African Union Mission in Darfur

UNAMIR United Nations Assistance Mission in Rwanda

UNITAF The Unified Task Force

UNMISS United Nations Mission in South Sudan

UNOMUR United Nations Observer Mission in Uganda and Rwanda

UNOSOM United Nations Operation in Somalia

UNSAS United Nations Standby Arrangement System

UNSC United Nations Peace and Security Council

USAID United States Agency for International Development

VMT Verification Monitoring Team

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	v
ABSTRACT	xii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY	
1.1 Background	
1.2 Statement of the Research Problem	
1.3 Objective of the Study	6
1.4 Justification of the Study	
1.5 Literature Review	8
1.5.1 Security	8
1.5.2 Regions and Regional Security	14
1.5.3 Standby Force	18
1.6 Theoretical Framework	21
1.7 Hypothesis.	23
1.8 Research Methodology	23
1.8.1 Research design	24
1.8.2 Target population and sample	24
1.8.3 Data Analysis	25
1.9 Chapter Outline	25
CHAPTER TWO: THE EASTERN AFRICA STANDBY FORCE:	
DESIGN	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Meaning of Collective Security	
2.3 Evolution of collective security in Eastern Africa	
2.4 Nature and Dynamics of conflicts in Eastern Africa	34

2.5 Regional Economic Communities (RECs) and Regional Mechanisms in Eatheir role in Eastern Africa Collective Security	
2.5.1 The African Union and regional security in Eastern africa	
2.5.2 Inter-Governmental Authority on Development (IGAD)	
2.5.3 International Conference on the Great Lakes Region (ICGLR)	
2.5.4 The East African Community (EAC)	
2.5.5 The Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA)	
2.6 The Eastern Africa Standby Force (EASF)	49
2.6.1 The African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA)	49
2.6.2 The African Standby Force (ASF)	
2.6.3 The Eastern Africa Standby Force (EASF)	52
2.6.4 The Aim of the EASF	55
2.6.5 EASF Organs	55
2.6.6 EASF Structures	56
2.6.6.1 Eastern Africa Standby Force Coordination Mechanism (EASFCO	M) 56
2.6.6.2 The Planning Element (PLANELM)	56
2.6.6.3 Eastern Africa Standby Brigade Headquarters (EASBRIG HQ)	57
2.6.6.4 The Logistics Base (LOGBASE)	58
2.7 EASF Mission Scenarios and Timelines	58
2.8 Conclusion.	60
CHAPTER THREE: PERFORMANCE OF THE EASTERN AFRICAN S FORCE FROM 2004 TO DATE IN VARIOUS PARTS OF AFRICA	
3.1 Introduction	61
3.2 The Concept of Peace Support Operations	61
3.3 Peace Support Operations Performance and its Measurements	62
3.4 An Overview of Pre-EASF Peace Support Operations in Eastern Africa	64
3.4.1 Case Study I: UNITAF, UNOSOM I and UNOSOM II in Somalia	64
3.4.2 Case Study II: UNAMIR in Rwanda	69
3.5 An overview of EASF Peace Support Operations: 2004 to date	72
3.6 Comparative Analysis	77
3.7 Conclusion.	80

CHAPTER FOUR: FACTORS THAT CONSTRAIN THE OPTIMAL PERFORMANCE OF THE EASTERN AFRICA STANDBY FORCE	82
4.1 Introduction	82
4.2 Factors that constrain the optimal performance of the Eastern Africa Standby Force	83
4.2.1 Lack of Funding	83
4.2.2 Weak Legal framework and Lack of Commitment	84
4.2.3 Poor structures and organization	85
4.2.4 Conflicts in the Eastern Africa	86
4.2.5 Lack of resources	87
4.2.6 Duplication of Regional Organizations and overlapping Membership	88
4.2.7 The ambivalence of some states and divided loyalty	89
4.2.8 Lack of a lead nation and Hegemonic Competition	90
4.2.9 Cultural Diversity and Lack of Interoperability	91
4.3 Conclusion	92
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	93
5.1 Summary of the Study	93
5.2 Findings	95
5.3 Recommendation	98
BIBLIOGRAPHY	99
Annex I: Questionnaire	116

ABSTRACT

The modern state has had limitations as the sole provider of peace and security to its people. This is related to the post-cold war security challenges such as the increased number of intra state conflicts, the effects of globalization on security matters and other new security challenges like non-conventional warfare. These new security dynamics call for concerted efforts among states in managing conflicts and maintaining peace and security, both at the international level, regional and sub-regional levels. In Africa, based on Chapter VIII of the United Nations Organization security Charter which provides for pacific settlement of local disputes through regional arrangement or sub regional agencies, and based on the need for concerted efforts in responding to African problems using mechanisms that best suit the continent, the continent formed the Organization of African Union, and later the African Union to help manage conflicts in the region. At the sub-regional level, several regional economic communities with overlapping membership and competing objectives were formed in the Eastern Africa to help the region achieve economic growth and development. However with the realization that human security was important to achieving economic growth and development in the region, most of these RECs had to restructure so as to include security in their agendas.

The Eastern Africa region has been regionalizing its peace and security initiatives through the existing RECs and regional development organizations. The latest security mechanism that has been developed to help address security threats in the region and beyond is the Eastern African Standby Force. This is the Eastern Africa's sub regional branch of the continental collective security mechanism-the African Standby Force.

This study is based on the theory of Regional Security Complex (RSC) and the Systems theory. In the EAR region, security is a significant issue through which both patterns of amity and enmity take part in shaping the region. The participation of both formal and non-state actors like rebels has created a region where the decision of one actor affects directly or indirectly the neighbouring states or countries. Eastern Africa therefore constitutes a 'security complex', which Buzan (et. al.) describes as, a "set of states whose major security perception and concerns are so inter-linked that their national security problems cannot reasonably be analyzed or resolved apart from one another". In a RSC, a part from the politico-military issues, other security issues are also put into focus. In the EAR region, social and environmental conflicts continue to be experienced alongside the political upheavals.

This study seeks to examine the structures, designs and effectiveness of the EASF as a security remit for collective security in the Eastern Africa region, alongside the other security organizations in the region. The study will also seek to identify the factors that may hinder the EASF's full operational capabilities and thereby suggest areas for further research in the area of study.

_

¹ Buzan, B, Waever O and De Wilde J. (1998). *Security; A New Framework for Analysis*. Boulder, CO: Lynne-Rienner Publishers.p.12

² Ibid. p.198.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY

1.1 Background

Regional organizations and collective security have become key features in contemporary conflict resolution, with every country being at least a member of one or more regional or sub-regional organization. The modern state has had limitations as a provider of welfare, peace and security and thus the need for the policy community in sharing the burden of security and conflict management.³

In the Post-Cold War period, the United Nations has led in carrying out collective security initiatives. Other regional organizations such as the European Union (EU) and the African Union (AU) have contributed towards conflict management, and so have multi-national military organisations such as NATO and the UN's Standby High Readiness Brigade (SHIRBRIG).

The security environment in Africa has been dynamic, and in the immediate post-colonial period, security issues were mostly addressed unilaterally.⁴ In view of this, the AU, through its Constitutive Act sought to take over a more robust role than its predecessor the Organisation of African Union (OAU) in dealing with issues of peace and security within the continent. Its role in conflict management in countries such as Burundi, Sudan and Somalia demonstrate the proactive role the organization has taken in issues of Peace and Security.

³ Tavares R. (2009). 'Regional Security: The Capacity of International Organizations.' Routledge, New York. Pg. 1-5.

⁴ Vogt M. (1998) 'Regional Security Arrangements and Security in Africa' *Senior Advocate Africa Programme, International Peace Academy*, New York, p.3.

Sub- regional organizations have a role to play as well in collective peace and security. ECOWAS in West Africa has carried out peacekeeping functions in Liberia and Sierra Leone, while South Africa, under SADC, has played significant peacekeeping and mediation roles in West Africa and in the Great Lakes region. IGAD has also played mediation roles in the Sudan and Somalia.

Eastern Africa is also regionalizing its peace and security initiative⁵ not only through RegionalEconomic Communities (RECs) such as the East African Community (EAC) but also through security and development organisations such as the International Conference on the Great Lakes Region (ICGLR), and the East African Standby Force (EASF). The formation of RECs was initially informed by economic considerations but with the realization that security and stability was a prerequisite to sustainable economic development, the RECS expanded their mandate to include peace and security measures.⁶ For instance, the revised EAC treaty emphasized the notion that economic development and regional integration can help prevent conflicts and enhance security. In 1998, the organization drafted a *Memorandum of Understanding on Common Defense and Security*, a prelude to the 2000 *Memorandum of Understanding on Interstate Security* which provided for the establishment of border committees to stabilize border areas that experience (d) tensions.⁷

Unlike in West Africa and South Africa where RECS (ECOWAS and SADC respectively) incorporate most of the regional states; and Nigeria and South Africa are the lead nations in issues of security in the respective sub-regions, Eastern Africa has a number of RECs,

⁵Eastern Africa as a sub region includes the Greater Horn, East Africa, the Great Lakes Region (including E. Congo) and the Indian Ocean islands.

⁶ Francis, D J. (2006) 'Uniting Africa: Building Regional Peace and Security Systems', Aldershot: Ashgate.

⁷ Nyong'o, P A, 'Governance and Democratization in Eastern Africa: Overcoming Conflicts and Initiating Political Integration', paper presented at the International Peace Academy/Makerere University/Africa Peace Forum seminar in Entebbe, Uganda, 16-18 December 2002.

each having different capabilities and conceptions of threats and solutions to regional security⁸; and four separate groupings of states: the Horn, East Africa, the Great Lakes and the Indian Ocean Islands- all having different histories, demographics, geography and interests. The subregion also lacks a lead nation in peace and security matters. In such a region of immense competition and mistrust, overlapping membership in organizations and different levels of development, it is very difficult to make collective decisions on peace and security.9

In order to harmonize the continent's numerous security initiatives and to ensure that the continent's limited resources are applied efficiently and effectively, the AU, through its larger framework of the African Union Peace and Security Architecture (APSA), established the concept of an African Standby Force (ASF) as an example of a collective security initiative in the continent. The five regionally based multinational brigades/forces of the ASF are based on the five economic regions (North, West, Central, South and East), and were to operate as a multinational integrated 10 rapid reaction peace support operation under strict guidelines. The EASF is the ASF force for Eastern Africa with the vision of contributing to regional and continental peace and stability, through a fully operational and multidimensional joint and integrated Force ready for deployment by 2015. 11

The choice of this study was informed by the need to enhance peace and security in the Eastern Africa region through regional collective security arrangements. The successful operation of the EASF is based on the harmonization of policies and the political will of the member states of the various RECS / groupings of states within the sub region. The shortcomings

⁸ See Jacobsen, K L and Nordby, J R. (2012) 'East Africa: Regional Security Organisations and Dynamics'. Danish Institute for International Studies. Copenhagen, Denmark. Pp.1-2.

⁹Fanta, E. (2012) 'Regionalising Peace and Security in Eastern Africa: Credible Hope or Elusive Dream.' – UNU – CRIS .p. 13.

¹⁰An integrated force in this sense refers to a multidisciplinary peace support operation including military, police and civilian components.

11 See Moving Africa Forward: Africa peace and Security Architecture (APSA): 2010 Assessment Study. Pp 40-41.

presented by these multiple institutions already posit challenges in collective security and functionality of the EASF. This study therefore seeks to establish the requisite conditions necessary for an operational and effective East Africa Standby Force.

1.2 Statement of the Research Problem

Eastern Africa region has suffered some of the world's longest and most bloody wars with notable conflicts still continuing in DRC Congo, Somali, Sudan and southern Sudan. Some of the effects of the war in the region have been death, influx of refugees and IDPS, and this has generally affected efforts to ensure stability and prosperity. ¹² Although under the OAU, a number of RECS were formed to steer development in their subsequent sub regions, and that the provision of peaceful settlement of disputes through negotiation, mediation, conciliation and arbitration constituted its guiding principle since its inception in 1963¹³, the organization, burdened by its own structural incompetence was unable to dictate the course of Africa's development and settlement of disputes, leading to the formation of the AU which took a robust role in issues of peace and security, more especially after the post-cold war era¹⁴ and after the 1990s events in Somali and Rwanda. 15 Under the APSA framework, the AU established the ASF, a multinational peacekeeping force that was to intervene and bring to an end violent conflict in the continent. The emphasis on the development of an ASF vis à vis other conflict management mechanisms could have been informed by the continuance of violent conflict and threats to security in the continent, and the unwillingness of the international community to

1

¹² Annan, K. (2005), in 'Larger Freedom. Report of the Secretary-General.' P.4 at: http://www.un.org/largerfreedom/ Organization of African Unity. 1963 (Art 3.4). Charter of the Organization of African Unity at: http://www.africaunion.org/root/au/Documents/Treaties/text/OAU Charter 1963.pdf.

¹⁴ Juma, M.K. (ed.). (2006). 'Compendium of Key Documents Relating to Peace and Security in Africa'. Pretoria: Pretoria University Law Press. P.1.

¹⁵ Adebajo, A. (2008). 'The Peacekeeping Travails of the AU and the Regional Economic Communities', in *The African Union and its Institutions*, Akokpari, J., Ndinga- Muvumba, A. & Murithi, T. (eds.). Johannesburg: Fanele.p.131.

engage their troops directly in the continent. Peacekeeping is a multidimensional practice which incorporates a number of conflict related activities other than peace enforcement by the military. 16

In Eastern Africa, although the existing RECS have tried to address the problem of insecurity in the region, the phenomenon has continued to be a prevalent in the sub region. The North-South conflict in Sudan and the Somali civil war were both among the longest lasting conflicts in Africa. Similarly, the 1994 genocide in Rwanda also shows how deadly conflict can be in this sub-region. Other forms of insecurity like terrorism, piracy, drug and human trafficking and low level intensity conflicts orchestrated by rebels like in Uganda continue to be witnessed as well.

The need for a functional peacekeeping force like the EASF is thus welcome especially in a region which is prone to conflicts, yet it cannot intervene collectively in regional conflicts. Once operational, the EASF will be a conventional military force. However a gap exists between the ASF force structure and the nature of current conflicts in the Eastern Africa which are mostly intra state and low level intensity conflicts. The use of a regional force in a conflict within the same region may be also challenging: the political interests of participating countries are likely to impose serious constraints to the functionality of the EASF, as is clearly the case in the context of the Horn of Africa. Another factor that needs consideration is the existence of the complexity of the relationship between the AU, the RECs and individual nations.¹⁷ The study thus seeks to critically assess the performance and in particular the functionality of the EASF in addressing protracted conflicts in the Eastern region of Africa. In so doing, the study is guided by the following questions: what is the relationship between the EASF and the RECs in Eastern Africa? How does the current design of the EASF affect its functionality in the Eastern Africa region?

Bellamy, A.J, Williams, P. & Griffin. (2004). 'Understanding Peacekeeping'. Cambridge: Polity Press. P.5.
 The African Peace and Security Architecture Conference Report Addis Ababa, 14-15 September 2009.

What are the pre- operational requirements of a standby force? What measures should be put in place to enhance the optimal performance of the EASF?

1.3 Objective of the Study

The main objective of the study is to appraise the regional collective security efforts / mechanisms in the Eastern Africa region and assess the challenges facing the EASF as a security initiative. The specific objectives are to:

- a. Examine the current design of the EASF structures and process.
- b. Identify and assess the performance of the EASF to date in various parts of Africa.
- c. Assess the factors that constrain optimal performance of the EASF.

1.4 Justification of the Study

The long history of conflicts experienced in Eastern Africa region and other security threats that the region still faces like maritime piracy, terrorism and trafficking in arms, drugs and humans continue to pose serious challenges to regional security dynamics, sometimes causing strained relations among countries of the sub-region. The capacity of individual states to address these transnational and irregular threats has also been weakened over time. Countries in the sub region will therefore need to embrace increased regional cooperation which will require some level of integrated defense and security system in order to effectively contain these threats.

By realizing that peace and security is a prerequisite to meaningful development, regional and sub-regional organizations/ mechanisms in Eastern Africa and other stakeholders in the region have had security cooperation as a top priority. However, conflict in the region with its devastating effects continues to be experienced, because of, among other reasons, issues such as

competition and duplication of efforts by the sub-regional mechanisms. A deliberate and concerted policy of collective security and self-reliance occasioned by military cooperation incorporated with the existing regional mechanisms will help eliminate insecurity and encourage development in the sub region and in the entire continent. A thorough examination of the current design of the proposed sub-regional standby force is therefore indispensable and examination of the necessary factors that will enhance the functionality of the EASF will be important. More research on security mechanisms will enable regional institutions and stakeholders to have a focused approach in developing their policy and capacity-building efforts towards achieving security in the sub region. Such a focused approach in a resource-limited sub-continent like Eastern Africa will have a bigger impact and increase the chances of success." The primary purpose of this study is to explore a number of key issues that will positively influence the EASF to be functional and effective, now and in the future by identifying solutions to the constraints that may hinder its performance.

It is hoped that this study will contribute to the growing international debate on the theory of regional collective security and the systems theory as far as it applies to matters of peace and security in the sub-region; and in particular to (East) Africa's ability to ensure its own future prosperity and development. The findings from this research could help those in relevant government, academic, and military positions of authority in their quest to establish an effective sub-regional security mechanism or peacekeeping capability, as opposed to national mechanisms.

_

¹⁸ De Coning, C. (2004) 'Refining the African Standby Force Concept'. *Conflict Trends*: 2. pp 20 - 26.

1.5 Literature Review

The review of literature is classified under three sub-headings: security, regions and regional security and standby forces.

1.5.1 Security

Security is a contested concept. However, there seems to be an agreement amongst scholars that at the basic level security implies the absence of threat to the fundamental values at the individual and collective levels. The concept of security can be understood in different forms depending on its objects: threat perception, the protected values, and the means through which these values can be protected.¹⁹

For the better part of the twentieth century, realism dominated the study and analysis of security. The nature of security was purely militaristic and its subject was the state. 'Security' was usually referred to as 'national security'. external military threats to the nation state²¹. For realists, the international system is anarchic, and all states maintain military capabilities for their own defense or "self-help". The independent action of a state as it pursues self-help may lead to rising insecurity for others. States cannot therefore escape security dilemma as military power of other states will always appear offensive. The effect of the security dilemma is that interstate cooperation is limited because of the security competition which takes precedence. In realism, states seek to consolidate power, thus peace/stability in international relations can only be achieved with the balance of power. Regional cooperation would therefore largely be focused

¹⁹ D.A.Baldwin, (1997) 'The Concept of Security', Review of International Studies. No.23, Pp. 5-26.

²⁰ See Sheehan M (2005). 'International Security: An Analytical Survey'. Boulder: Lynne Rienner. P.5

²¹ Ayoob, M. 1995. 'The Third World Security Predicament'. Boulder: Lynne- Rienner Publishers. Pp 4-8

²² Herz, J (1950). 'Idealist internationalism And the Security Dilemma.' World Politics 2, P.157.

²³ Morgenthau H, J. (1978). 'Politics Among Nations: The Struggle For Power and Peace'. 5th Ed. New York: Knopf. P. 173.

on balance of power through alliances.²⁴ As an instrument of policy, military power has got a variety of uses among them peacekeeping, peace enforcement, and can help wield other tools of influence such as diplomacy and propaganda.²⁵

Realists like Walt argue that security studies are about war and can be defined as "the study of threat, use, and control of military force" and that any attempt to widen the security agenda to include issues such as pollution would destroy the intellectual coherence of 'security'. Bellamy too defined security as the "relative freedom from war coupled with a relatively high expectation that defeat will not be a consequence of any war that should occur."

The definition of 'security' as essentially state centric and militaristic was later criticized as it ignored other nonmilitary threats of the modern era such as terrorist groups, transnational criminal organizations, and the like. Further, assuming that the object of security threat is the state ignores the fact that threats and violence can be directed exclusively at certain groups, and even individuals within states and those threats can sometimes emanate from the state itself.²⁸

Most neo- realists, while still holding on military approach as the defining key to security, "loosened' their state centrism ideology. Chipman for instance argues for widening of the concept if concerns about the threat or the actual use of force are between political actors,²⁹ who in essence could be states, peoples and nations or even alliances.

Arnold Wolfers made a distinction between objective and subjective security, the former implying the "absence of threat to acquired values" or real threat, while the later referred to the "absence of fear that such values will be attacked", or perceived threat. He further adds that the

²⁶ Walt, S M. (1991) 'The Renaissance of Security Studies', *International Studies Quarterly, Vol. 35:2*, Pp212-213.

²⁴ Hurell, A. 'Regionalism in Theoretical Perspective,' In Fawcett L and Hurell A (Eds.), *Regionalism in World Politics: Regional Organisations and International Order*, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995), P.50-53.

²⁵ Sheehan M (2005), op cit, p.13.

²⁷ Bellamy I. (1981) 'Towards a Theory of International Security', Political Studies, Vol.29, No.1, P.102.

²⁸Caldwell, D, and Williams R E. Jr. (2006) 'Seeking Security in an Insecure World'. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield. P.6.

²⁹Chipman J. (1992) 'The Future of Strategic Studies: Beyond Grand Strategy', Survival, 43:1, P. 129.

realists conception of security were idealistic too because by demanding a policy of strength based on armament, it reflected value judgments and an ordered set of priorities about which social objectives are to be pursued or prioritized in terms of government attention and spending.³⁰ Consequently, absolute security cannot be obtained at any given level. Based on Wolfers' definition, Baldwin reformulates security to be: 'a low probability of damage to acquired values'.³¹ He thus emphasizes on preservation of 'acquired values' which according to him, are protection of 'political independence' and 'territorial integrity'; although other values are sometimes added. He adds that such values should always be specified to avoid confusion.

For social constructivist, 'security' is a social construction, and is an outcome of a process of social and political interaction. The meaning to "security" is therefore given by people through inter-subjective consensus. Basically, "security is what actors make of it". 32 Katzenstein argues that the construction of security generally is shaped by national and regional culture because this helps shape the way actors understand perceived threats, and the particular responses that will be taken to these understandings. 33 Dalby adds that the Western construction of security is that of "power by someone over something or someone else and it is imposed by the power of the state and its military organization" 734. To analyse sub- regional security in Eastern Africa consideration of various cultures and other dynamics in member state, as opposed to Western definition of security, is important so as to develop an effective security strategy.

In an attempt to broaden the security agenda, Buzan and Ullman felt that the concept of security should encompass the military, environmental, societal, economic and political sectors

_

³⁰Wolfers, A. (1952). 'National Security as an Ambiguous Symbol'. *Political Science Quarterly No.67*, P.482-483.

³¹Baldwin, D. (1997), 'The Concept of Security', Review of International Studies Vol. 23, No. 1: P.13.

³²Wendt, A. (1992). 'Anarchy is What States Make of it: The Social Construction of Power Politics.' *International Organization* .46, Pp. 391-425.

³³Katzenstein, P J. (1996). 'The Culture of National Security: Norms and Identity in World Politics'. New York: Columbia University Press. Pp. 1-2.

³⁴Dalby, S. (1992). 'Security, Modernity Ecology: The Dilemmas of Post-Cold War Security Discourse.' Alternatives *17*, P.105.

which equally affect people in the everyday life; and the "referent' object of security to include the state, the individual and the international system. All the sectors and referent objects contribute to security and according to Buzan, although each sector formed a focal point for analysis, they interrelated and remained inseparable parts of the complete whole. ³⁵ The reason for broadening the security concept was to capture the changing realities of the world such as effects of interdependence and globalization; the concept had political qualities and it had potential as an integrative concept for international relations. Buzan defines security as "the pursuit of freedom from threat", and that "other types of threats were rising in importance regardless of the military concerns". ³⁶

Mwagiru³⁷ too argues that the term security must be redefined taking into account the broadened concerns and the special security concerns of third world and African states. The understanding of security as constructed by Western metaphysics³⁸ may not wholly capture the African setting whose operating environment largely conditions the threats to security. While concurring with Buzan's idea of "rising density" of the international system, Mwagiru adds that the realities of globalization, and processes such as internationalization of national affairs, conflicts, politics, and those of interdependence cannot be ignored in security studies as they have necessitated the case of system analysis. Sub-regional organizations have therefore had to redefine themselves and their roles in the globalized and globalizing world.

The broadened concept of security brought about the concept of 'securitization' and 'desecuritisation'. To "securitize" an issue or threat was to get priority for action and use of exceptional measure in dealing it. Waever posits that something becomes a 'security issue' if it

-

³⁵Sheehan, M (2005), op cit. pp.44-45.

³⁶ Buzan B., (1991). 'People, States and Fear: An Agenda for International Security Studies In the Post-Cold War Era', 2nd Ed. Boulder: Lynne Rienner, P.18.

³⁷ Mwagiru, M. (2004) 'African Regional Security in the Age of Globalization'. Nairobi: HBF. P.1

³⁸ See Sheehan, (2005), op. cit, P.7.

appears to pose an 'existential threat' to a particular group or institution. But as Wolfers already argued, how an issue is securitized depends on how those in positions of power define it. Waever, further argues for desecuritization of as many issues as possible, arguing that the term security carries with it the history and connotation of militarism. Desecuritising an issue removes it from the realm of existential survival thereby encouraging more cooperative forms of problem solving.

Deudney and Huysmans³⁹ also argue that securitizing issues like the environment and migration may prevent them from being addressed in a holistic politically progressive manner. In Eastern Africa, conflicts are trans boundary and the issues of refugees and environmental conflicts, for instance, are so sensitive that, if addressed only from a state-centric point of view could escalate conflicts among peoples and states. But again as earlier mentioned, issues get political importance when they are securitized. So with desecuritisation, groups at the sub state and supra-state level may lose the ability to mobilize support for their agenda.

The traditional definition of security meant in practice that the security needs of some groups in society were largely ignored.⁴⁰ The broad agenda has therefore brought into political importance other existential concerns, initially marginalized, like world poverty. The security concerns of the individual can also be directly addressed, not necessarily via the state, and security can be seen at the system / sub-system level. Many factors that create and accentuate conflicts cannot be fully understood at the state level without reference to the sub-region.

Recently, while agreeing on the need to construct a conceptualization of security that would embrace many sectors but without losing coherence, Buzan et al defined security as

pp.53-72. ⁴⁰Tickner, J, A. (1995). 'Revisioning Security.' in Booth, K. and Smith, S. (Eds.). *International Relations Theory Today*. Cambridge: Polity Press, P.191.

³⁹Huysmans, J. (1995) 'Migrants as a Security Problem: Dangers of 'Securitising' Societal Issues.' in Miles, R. and Thranhardt D (eds.). *Migration and European Integration: The Dynamics of Inclusion and Exclusion*. London; Pinter pp.53-72.

relating to how "human collectivities relate to each other in terms of threats and vulnerabilities". Dangers to human collectivities that are life-threatening and emanate from the calculated activities and policies of other human beings should be considered as security threat.⁴¹ Units can seek to reduce their insecurity by reducing their vulnerabilities or by preventing threats.

Other scholars from the functionalist school of thought like Deutsch explored the idea of security communities (SC) arguing that cooperation in economic and cultural areas was far better way in forming peaceful and independent communities than cooperation through military alliances. Since security was a social construction, through inter-subjective consensus, states and societies could alter behavior and transform relationships among states from enemies to friends. 42 In a security community "there is real reassurance that the members of the community will not harm each other physically but will settle their disputes in some other way"43. Adler and Barnett have supported this approach by adding that tightly coupled security communities demonstrate commitment to "cooperative security measures..." ⁴⁴ However, unlike Deutsch's restrictive definition of totally peaceful and independent communities, they posit that a SC goes through the 'nascent, the ascendant and the mature phases'. After the developmental phase of a SC, there are internal dynamics that institutions experience before mature communities can be achieved.45 These later argument by Adler and Barnett could apply to (Eastern) Africa when looking at regional security institutions since totally peacefully states in the region are virtually inexistent.

1 1

⁴¹Buzan, B. Waever, O. and De Wilde J. (1998) 'Security: A New Framework for Analysis.' Boulder, CO: Lynne-Rienner Publishers. P.10.

⁴²Deutsch K et al. (1957). *Political Community and the North Atlantic Area. Princeton:* Princeton University Press.2.

⁴³Ibid, p.5

⁴⁴Adler E and Barnett, (1998). Security Communities. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Pp.49-59.

⁴⁵See Farah I. (2008) 'African Regional Security Arrangements: Ecowas and Lessons for IGAD' in Mwagiru M. (ed.) *Human Security: Setting the Agenda for the Horn of Africa*. Africa Peace Forum P. 238.

1.5.2 Regions and Regional Security

The end of the Cold War reduced the incentives for global penetration into the domestic affairs of the third world states making the 'region' the focus of security studies. It also necessitated the re-examination of the term security. States came to be recognized by their regional orientation rather than by their former ideological alignment to the superpowers. Buzan⁴⁶ argues that the region is important in security studies as it allows an intermediate level of analysis where highly interdependent "security complexes" operate between the international system and the state. Issues that affect regional stability are projected onto both the state and international level.

A 'region' is usually associated with different continents of the world while sub-regions are geographically distinct sub-areas of continents. But, geography alone doesn't define the term 'region' in world politics. Regions are political and imagined constructs shaped both by local countries' concepts of identity and connections, and by the way outsiders view and react to them; and they can be 'made' as part of a conscious policy programme. This is why regional arrangements may leave out countries that seem geographically to belong to the region; why several security related groups with different memberships and agendas can coexist on the same territory; and why a security defined region may not have the same boundaries as it does for economic, climatic, cultural or other purposes. ⁴⁷ Initially, it was said that balances of power were predominately the organizing force for a region. But 'because balances of power are susceptible to external influences, they are a less reliable guide to security relations at the regional level." Buzan's Security Complex Theory (SCT) reduced the significance of the power factor with reference to the definition of a region. For Buzan, a region is "a distinct and

_

⁴⁶ Buzan, B. Waever, O. and De Wilde J.(1998). Op cit. P.9.

⁴⁷ Russett, B. M. (1967) *International Regions and the International System*. Rand MacNally: Chicago, Pp.11-12.

⁴⁸ Stivachtis, I. (2001). Co-operative Security and Non-Offensive Defense in the Zone of War. *Peter Lang Publishers*. *P.210*.

significant sub-system of security relations that exists among a set of states whose fate is that they have been locked into close geographic proximity with one another". ⁴⁹ Buzan identifies four major characteristics of a security region: it comprises two or more states; the states must be in relative geographic proximity to one another; security interdependence on or within the regional level is more pronounced than at the global level and, a security region is defined by the patterns found within the security practices.

Regions are frequently defined by a common ad hoc problem which establishes the conditions for an interdependent security environment. The uniqueness of the ad hoc problem and its specificity to the region is what is known as a regional security complex (RSC).⁵⁰

Bailes and Cottey⁵¹ identified four models of regional security cooperation that have been relevant for the 21st century: alliances, collective security, security regimes and security communities. Alliances are designed for both defence and attack (typically by military means) against a common external, or even internal, threat or opponent. Membership into an alliance excludes the enemy.

Collective security refers to a collective action as a response to a collectively identified threat. It is formal in character and it is only feasible if it draws on the fundamental interests of all states in a region or the world, and aims at protecting those interests by concentrating force.⁵² Apart from the UN, the AU may be viewed as an institution that aims at, and partially produces collective security. The AU's collective security system originates from the Protocol establishing the AU Peace and Security Council (PSC), which is 'a standing decision-making organ for the

⁴⁹ Buzan, B, (1991), Op cit, p.188.

⁵⁰ Buzan B and Waever, O. (2003). 'Regions and Powers: The structure of international power'. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. P.21

⁵¹ Bailes A J K. and Cottey, A. (2006). Regional security cooperation in the early 21st century. SIPRI. p.2.

⁵² A plant, Report on Collective Security in Borquin, M (ed.) Collective Security, A Record of the Seventh and Eighth International Studies Conferences, Paris 1934. P. 3-6.

prevention, management and resolution of conflicts" and "a collective security and early warning arrangement to facilitate timely and efficient response to conflict and crisis situation in Africa". Although IGAD has no special organ responsible for peace and security Article 18 of the IGAD Agreement provides that 'member states shall act collectively to preserve peace, security and stability, which are essential prerequisites for economic development and social progress."

The limitation of collective security is the challenge of arriving at a common judgment and common will to act against offenders because of the larger membership. But it works well when there is consensus among the major powers, and vice versa. The veto powers at the UNSC have sometimes failed to agree on issues that require collective action.

Regimes define norms of a cooperative and generally positive nature for states' behavior and often provide ways to implement support and verify these norms. A security-related regime may cover broad norms such as the non-use of force or may regulate certain types and uses of weapons or activities like military movements and transparency. Regimes with functional security goals may not restrict their membership on the basis of geographical borders.

A *security community* refers to a group of states among which there is a 'real assurance that the members of that community will not fight each other physically, but will settle their disputes in some other way'.⁵⁵ These four models can help in understanding the nature of, prospects for and limitations of particular forms of regional security cooperation.

There have been emerging patterns and functions of regional security cooperation since the 1990s and a generic framework for understanding this cooperation has been proposed⁵⁶:

⁵³ Article 2 of the AU Peace and Security Council Protocol.

⁵⁴ Debiel T and Wulf H, (2009) 'Conflict Early Warning and Response Mechanisms: Tools for Enhancing the Effectiveness of Regional organizations? A Comparative study of the AU, ECOWAS, IGAD, ASEAN/ARF and PIF', *Crisis State Research Paper Series No, 2, Working Paper no.49*, p.18.

⁵⁵Deutsch, K. W. et al. (1969). *Political Community and the North Atlantic Area: International Organization in the Light of Historical Experience*. Greenwood Press: p. 5.

⁵⁶ Bailes A J K. and Cottey, A. (2006). Op cit, p.4.

security dialogue and conflict management, new forms of military cooperation, democracy and human rights, and economic integration and the wider security agenda.

Regional security institutions serve as frameworks for communication and dialogue among their members. This helps to build trust between states, and develop a sense of common interests and identity. The AU has established new mechanisms for conflict management,⁵⁷ and has engaged in a number of political mediation missions for internal conflicts in member states. The mediation efforts of IGAD in Somalia and Sudan have also been significant.

Contemporary military cooperation as opposed to traditional one can be characterized as 'defence diplomacy' where there is multilateral and bilateral dialogue among defence ministries and armed forces aiming to foster confidence and transparency and establishing democratic, civilian control of militaries. The Au's Common African Defence and Security Policy (CADSP), the basis on which the E (ASF)⁵⁹ is formed is a case in point.

Democracy and human rights have increasingly come to be viewed as part of the security agenda. Democracies are said to be less prone than authoritarian regimes to engage in genocide or other forms of mass violence against their own citizens. The links between governance and security is also gaining in significance and human rights abuses are seen as major threats to human security. Regional organizations with comparable cultures and histories may promote and protect good governance and human rights among states. The AU's goals as defined by its

_

⁵⁷ Protocol relating to the Establishment of the Peace and Security Council of the African Union, Assembly of the African Union, First Ordinary Session, Durban, 9 July 2002, URL http://www.au2002.gov.za/docs/summit council/secprot.htm>. See also Williams, R., (2004) 'National Defence Reform and the African Union', *SIPRI Yearbook 2004: Armaments, Disarmament and International Security.* Oxford University Press: Oxford, pp.231-50.
⁵⁸ Cottey, A. and Forster, A., (2004) *Reshaping Defence Diplomacy: New Roles for Military Cooperation and Assistance*, Adelphi Paper no. 365. Oxford University Press: Oxford.

⁵⁹ The ASF is to comprise of 20 000 military, police and civilian personnel, based on five brigades to be provided by each of the continent's five sub-regions.

⁶⁰ Rummel, R.J. (1994) 'Power, genocide and mass murder', Journal of Peace Research, vol. 31:1. Pp. 1-10.

Constitutive Act include the promotion of 'democratic principles and institutions, popular participation and good governance' and 'human and peoples' rights.'61 However, the selective application of discipline on member states by the organization has been criticized. The AU has been said to be reticent about what some see as a drift towards authoritarianism in Ethiopia.

Although many regional institutions are primarily economic in character, they are often implicitly designed to promote stability, conflict avoidance and the collective viability of their communities. Since economic interdependence between states increases the costs of using force and creates shared interests⁶², economic cooperation and integration reduces chances of political or military conflict. Economic regionalism has also been a protective response to economic globalization as working together in regional groups helps states to protect markets and industries in their region, increase their competitiveness in the global economy and strengthen their bargaining power in global economic forums such as the World Trade Organization.

The idea of a wider security agenda has been pursued mainly through regional organizations/institutions thus bridging the gap between traditional definitions of security and wider concepts of security such as democracy, human rights, economic and environmental issues. The EAC and IGAD for example, have fronted for general security of member states, among other concerns like economic, environmental, developmental and human security.

1.5.3 Standby Force

At the end of the Cold War, Africa was ravaged by intrastate conflicts that negatively impacted on peace, security and economies of its states. These events coupled with the apparent "Africa fatigue" by the West and the international community, with reference to the lack of

⁶¹ Constitutive Act of the African Union (note 26), Article 3.

⁶² Nye, J. S. and Keohane, R. O. (2001). Power and Interdependence, 3rd edition. Longman: New York, N.Y. p.83.

timely and effective response in the Rwanda conflict in 1994, provided a strong socio-economic impetus for the establishment of a continental force towards collective security. The African leadership thus resolved to demonstrate political will in 'finding African solutions to African problems', by seeking to put up structures capable of interventions, create conditions necessary for, and allow time for the transfer of mandates to the better -resourced UN.⁶³

The delay in the arrival of troops in the mission area is sometimes the reason for major security instability in the targeted country. One way to overcome this inadequacy is the establishment of the so called "stand by" forces by member states.

The objective of a "standby force" is to offer an alternative supra-national intervention force that is large to deal with global /regional security, and it pre- supposes a ready to be deployed military force of modest dimensions, including police and other civilians personnel deployed into a conflict zone at a short notice. The rationale for this is that preventive action, through a combination of conflict resolution, diplomacy and even prompt deployments, is far more cost-effective than later, larger forces introduced three to six months later, the time which, the situation within the affected country can change dramatically and reduce the chance of a peaceful resolution. The need for a suitably organized, structured, trained and equipped force that is readily available when required is therefore important.⁶⁴

Although the concept of a 'pan-African army' dates back to the 1960s when Kwame Nkrumah proposed the establishment of the 'common defence system with African high command' 65, the African Standby Force has been said to be conceptually closer to the United

⁶³ Festus Aboagye. (2012) 'A Stitch in Time Would Have Saved Nine; Operationalizing the African Standby Force'. *Policy Brief no.34, Institute for Security Studies*. P.1.

⁶⁴ Mazzei C. (2009). Peacekeeping, UN Standby Force and Rapid Deployment: A Critical Analysis. P.6

⁶⁵ Nkrumah, K. (1963). *The People of Africa Are Crying For Unity*. Speech delivered on the meeting of African heads of state and government, Addis Ababa, 24 May 1963. Available at: http://www.newafricanmagazine.com/special-reports/other-reports/10-years-of-the-au/kwame-nkrumah-the-people-of-africa-are-crying-for-unity.

Nations Standby Arrangement (UNSAS)'s (SHIRBRIG)⁶⁶,⁶⁷. This however marks an important development in Africa's continental self-emancipation.⁶⁸ The importance of peace and security issues in Africa has been underlined in the adoption of *The Protocol Relating to the Establishment of the Peace and Security Council of the African Union* in July 2002 and the *Solemn Declaration on a Common African Defence and Security Policy* in February 2004. The PSC Protocol provides a legal base of APSA- a system of conflict prevention, management and resolution tools, and in Article 13(1) of the *Protocol*, the ASF 'shall be composed of standby multidisciplinary contingents, with civilian and military components in their countries of origin and ready for rapid deployment at appropriate notice'⁶⁹. Most conflicts are complex and of long duration, and thus call for various approaches and capabilities in addressing not only security and military aspects, but also the political, humanitarian, developmental and institutional dimensions of the conflicts.

The standby arrangement personnel, while in their countries of origin, are to participate in various pre-deployment activities, including training and joint exercises, which are organised on a regular basis by RECs/RMs to keep them prepared for deployment.

The Eastern Africa Standby Force is part of the ASF. While SHIRBRIG offers the idea of a rapid deployment force with the same training standards, operating procedures and interoperable equipment, the EASF (and ASF) seems to be far away from being fully operational, and even if it were, chances of its use would be challenging because of the network

⁶⁶In his *Supplement to an Agenda for Peace* presented in January 1995, Boutros-Ghali recommended the idea of UN rapid deployment force in order to have forces available for a rapid deployment at short notice. Denmark, Austria, Canada, Netherlands, Norway, Poland and Sweden established a rapid deployment force for peacekeeping and humanitarian operation- SHIRBRIG, within the framework of (UNSAS).

⁶⁷ Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Denmark, "Background Paper about establishing a Multinational UN Standby Forces Brigade at High Readiness (SHIRBRIG), New York, 26 September 1996.

⁶⁸Franke, B. (2006) 'A Pan-African Army: The evolution of an idea and its Eventual Realization in the African Standby Force'. *Security Review 15:4. Institute for Security Studies*. P.4.

⁶⁹ African Union. (2002). *The Protocol Relating to the Establishment of the Peace and Security Council of the African Union* adopted by the 1st Ordinary Session of the Assembly of the African Union, Durban, 9 July 2002.

of interconnected and interrelated interests by various actors, especially external actors.⁷⁰ The EASF, being part of the larger ASF may not adopt policies or procedures based on the mutual understanding of the countries involved, without consultation with the ASF and the donor countries from the international community. These limitations question the legitimacy of 'African solutions to African problems' and lead the study in identifying the pre-operational requirements if the EASF is to function effectively and efficiently.

1.6 **Theoretical Framework**

Violent conflicts and their devastating consequences in the Eastern Africa region, and other security threats have locked states in the region into mutual security vulnerability such that one country's security is now linked to peace and stability of another neighbouring state. Responses and interventions in domestic security matters therefore require a regional approach in containing, managing and resolving them. The relational nature of security⁷¹ in Eastern Africa which can be said to be a "security complex" calls for the application of Buzan's Regional Security Complex Theory (RSCT). Buzan posits that "security complexes be limited to state and interstate relations and politico-military cannot issues; they must make room for other types of security units and issues"⁷³. Apart from the militaristic and political intricacies that have engulfed the Eastern Africa region, the concept of security in the region has encompassed other sectors such as environmental, economic and human security.

According to Buzan and Weaver, regional security complex (RSC) is "defined by durable patterns of amity and enmity taking the form of sub-global, geographically coherent patterns of

⁷⁰ Williams, P.D. (2011). *The African Union's Conflict Management Capabilities*. Council on Foreign Relations Working Paper. P.5. Available at: http://africacenter.org/2012/04/the-african-union%E2%80%99s-conflictmanagement-capabilities/

⁷¹ Buzan, B. (1991), People, States and fear: An Agenda for International Security Studies in the Post-Cold War Era. 2nd ed. Boulder: Lynne Rienner; p.187.

[&]quot;A set of states whose major security perceptions and concerns are so interlinked that their national security problems cannot reasonably be analyzed or resolved apart from one another." ⁷³ Ibid, p.198.

security interdependence". 74 Its main elements separate yet interrelated are: boundaries, anarchic structure, polarity and socially constructed patterns of amity and enmity. In Eastern Africa, the effect of boundaries in regional security is significant. Most borders are blurred making some countries' membership in a region change relatively quickly. Tanzania for instance, balances between South and East Africa. Most borders in the region are also comparatively porous and so most conflicts and crises have been trans-boundary. States and peoples are also locked into geographical proximity with each other, and because of the security dynamics, mutual security interdependence or vulnerability is likely to be seen.⁷⁵ For instance, the national security and stability of the neighbouring states of DRC affect its own national security.

In a RSC, there exists a minimum of two autonomous units in a system. Most states in Eastern Africa are sovereign states (although there lacks a lead country- an important element in peace and security operations). Concerning patterns of enmity and amity in (Eastern) Africa, there are relatively durable alliances and rivalries between states. Notable political tensions and rivalries have existed between some states, most notably Ethiopia and Eritrea. In addition, every country plays more or less an important role in a RSC. All member states in the EASF have a role in the project; from the probable regional powers and possible pillars of the EASF like Kenya and Ethiopia to regional bystanders like Tanzania, Madagascar and Mauritius.⁷⁶

The East African RSC has a specific character and involves numerous threats and challenges to peace and security among them interstate and intrastate tensions and conflicts. The RSCT and security complexes can be useful in providing a good framework to discuss issues of

⁷⁴Buzan, B. and Weaver, O. (2003). Regions and Powers: The Structure of International Security. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. P.45.

⁷⁵Francis D, J (2006). 'Uniting Africa: Building Regional Peace and Security Systems.' Aldershot, UK: Ashgate,

p.104

76 Cilliers, J. and Pottgieter J. (2010). 'The African Standby Force.' in: Engel, U. and Porto, J.G. eds. Africa's New

The African Standby Force.' in: Engel, U. and Porto, J.G. eds. Africa's New

The African Standby Force.' in: Engel, U. and Porto, J.G. eds. Africa's New

The African Standby Force.' in: Engel, U. and Porto, J.G. eds. Africa's New Peace and Security Architecture: Promoting Norms and Institutionalizing Solutions, Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Group, p. 134.

threats and vulnerabilities that are endemic in the region. If the solution can be found from within the context of the complex, then national security and international security policies for states can be made from within this context as well.

The World society's System theory will also be inferred in this discussion as the approach enables a systemic view of conflict and its management thereof. Because conflict in the Eastern Africa is usually trans-boundary, the regional and international implications of conflict must be factored in its analysis. The international community and other non-state actors must be factored in conflict management efforts in the region in as much as the region endeavors to have conflict management approaches tailored to African conditions. Ignorance of the systemic view in addressing conflicts in the Eastern Africa region would therefore be dangerous.

1.7 Hypothesis.

- The current design of the EASF constrains its functionality.
- The current design of the EASF does not constrain its functionality.
- The current design of the EASF has no relationship with its functionality.

1.8 Research Methodology

The research method that was used in this study is qualitative research and it was presented using both historical and descriptive analysis. Although descriptive research is quantitative, open-ended questions were asked to yield qualitative data during the interviews. The researcher did an extensive review of related literature in the fields of peace and security, peacekeeping and conflict management more broadly, conflict in Eastern Africa.

1.8.1 Research Design

The main objective of this research is to assess the efforts of the sub-regional mechanisms in Eastern Africa in addressing peace and security issues and the challenges faced in harmonizing their efforts which is important towards achieving an effective regional collective security strategy. A case study of the Eastern Africa Standby Force was chosen to help determine factors and relationships among the security mechanisms in the EAR.

1.8.2 Target Population and Sample

This study targeted the staff of the EASF based at Karen, Nairobi. The researcher used questionnaires for both the military and civilian staff of the EASF. The site of data collection being in Nairobi was accessible to the researcher. The sampling techniques that were used in this research were largely qualitative like the random purposive sampling and snowball sampling. Although purposive sampling was be used to get in depth information,⁷⁷ the random purposive sampling technique will gave credibility to the data collected. The mentioned sampling techniques were appropriate in this study since the sample size is small.

The efforts made by these sub-regional mechanisms were examined through both primary and secondary data. Secondary data was obtained primarily from books, academic journals, articles, publications by respected authors in their respective fields, previous research papers, EAC, IGAD and EASF protocols, communiqués, periodicals, minutes of meetings, reports and the internet. For the primary data, data collection instruments that were used were semi-structured questionnaires and analysis of documents. Questionnaires were given out with the consent of interviewees and open-ended questions were employed to obtain in-depth information

 $^{^{77}}$ See Mugenda, A G and Mugenda O M (1999) in *Research methods: quantitative and qualitative approaches.*" *Pp.* 50-51.

from the research persons. The secondary data from document analysis helped the researcher to acquaint with the area of study in so far as the issues and theoretical debates involved in this study.

1.8.3 Data Analysis

The process used was data reduction, data displays and drawing of conclusion. The narrative analysis which seeks to understand social phenomena through the form and content of stories that are analyzed by participants was used in this study. Narratives can contribute towards persuading, rationalizing and even offer perspective. The participants' views were obtained through the semi-structured interviews during the EASF 2015 open day and through questionnaires.

The period of analysis of this study stretches back to the formation of the OAU in 1963 and further looks ahead to what the future holds for the ASF/EASF. To address ethical issues, the researcher sought permission from the relevant sources before collecting and compiling data. The resource persons were informed what the study was about and that the purpose of the study was purely academic. Their participation in data providence was voluntary so as to ensure that the information received is handled and analyzed properly without any prejudice.

1.9 Chapter Outline

This study is presented in five chapters:

-

⁷⁸ Fritz K, (2008) "Case study and Narrative Analysis, Qualitative Data Analysis Class Session 4. The Johns Hopkins University. available at http://ocw.jhsph.edu/courses/qualitative data analysis.

Chapter One gives an introduction to the study, statement of the problem, objectives,

literature review, the framework of study, and the methodology that will be used in collection

and analysis of data.

Chapter Two while developing on the theory advanced in chapter one, examines the

current design and structure of the EASF by first looking at the concept of collective security

more so in the Eastern Africa, the nature of conflict in the Eastern Africa region and the

historical perspective of other regional mechanisms and institutions that have been put up to

address the security situation in the region and then the development of the EASF.

Chapter Three seeks to assess the performance and achievement of the EASF in the area

of peace and security in the various parts of Africa.

Chapter Four, having assessed the performance of the EASF in Chapter three, will be

dedicated to identifying and assessing the factors that constrain the optimal performance of the

EASF.

Chapter Five presents major points of analysis in the previous chapters and highlights the

key findings that were made and the recommendations for further research in the area under

study.

CHAPTER TWO

THE EASTERN AFRICA STANDBY FORCE: STRUCTURES AND DESIGN

2.1 Introduction

26

The new security dynamics in the Post-cold War era led to African states' realization that concerted efforts among member states in managing conflict and maintaining peace was imperative. Incidences such as the Rwanda genocide and the need to redefine security in its broadness triggered the need to develop jointly effective prevention and mitigating mechanisms to deal with conflicts in the region and the need for a people-centered approach to security. Consequently, the concept of 'Pan-Africanism' in the area of security became once again more alive given that security in one region was linked to security in another region.

Since the mandate of old institutions in the African region limited their performance in view of the new security requirements, institutions in the region led by the African Union have embarked on an elaborate normative and institutional transformation to reflect the security realities on the ground. Article 4(h) and (j) of the AU Constitutive Act empowers member states to intervene in certain situations. The AU further adopted the Protocol that embraces an expanded and comprehensive agenda for peace and security through the African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA). Under APSA is the African Standby Force which is multidimensional given the new security environment is multifaceted. The ASF is tailored to carry out modern day peace support operations among them conflict prevention. The ASF has five standby forces among them the Eastern African Standby Force that was established to carry out the functions of peace and security in a timely manner and in accordance with the constitutive act of the AU.

This chapter is dedicated to an examination of the current structure, processes and design of the EASF. The concept of collective security in the Eastern Africa region will be discussed followed by an analysis of the environment under which the EASF carries out its functions by

first looking at the nature of conflict in the region and the role of the African union and of the existing security and development institutions, in the Eastern Africa collective security.

2.2 Meaning of Collective Security

In the post-cold war period, conflicts and wars in different parts of the world escalated necessitating the need for collective responses at global, regional and national levels. The League of Nations (LoN) and its heir, the United Nations Organization (UN) were established for the maintenance of peace and security in the international system by promoting a collective security system that would address major threats to global peace and security. The objective of collective security is to counter any attempt by states or any aggressor to change the status quo or the world order of independent sovereign states with overwhelming force.⁷⁹

Collective security is a concept that evolves and is varied in meaning. Before the Post-Cold War period, security was state-centric. Today, emphasis is on human security and the responsibility to protect (R2P). The international community through the UNSC has the responsibility to protect, where a state is unable or unwilling to protect its people from violations against humanity. ⁸⁰ The AU too, unlike the OAU, adopted the principle R2P as one of the basic tenets of its existence. Collective security is thus an integrated organization that can avert threat or intervene in the internal affairs of states to stop crimes against humanity, the prohibition stated in article 2(7) of the UN Charter, notwithstanding.

⁷⁹ Van der Waag I, J. (1989) 'Interstate *Collective Security: its development and decline 'in Scientia Militaria*,' South African Journal of Military Studies, Vol 19, no 1, 1989.p.1-4.

Stahn, C. (2007) Responsibility to protect: political rhetoric or emerging legal norm? *The American Journal of International Law*, 101(1), p.32.

In collective security states attempt to preserve the security of member states against a common enemy or adversary.⁸¹ States being "coercion- wielding organizations" are exposed to threats and vulnerabilities against their security. They thus seek to assure their own security against possible aggressors through collective organizations that take collective measures for dealing with threat to an established international order, or peace. 83 Collective security is "an arrangement arrived at by some nations to protect their vital interests, safety or integrity against a probable threat or menace by means of combining their powers."84 An institutionalized army or police force at the global or regional level is put in place to deter any member state from acting in a manner likely to threaten the international order.⁸⁵ Collective security that is based on regulated and institutionalized balancing against the aggressor promotes trust and a more cooperative international environment, making inter-state rivalry and aggression unlikely.

Collective security as a development on the idea of an 'alliance' can refer to a group of states who through a collective body, defends its members from security threats that are directed from outside the group. The threat can also be an internal one. 86 In this context, states under security communities share the same threat perception and would be better off if they deal with the threat collectively as a group rather than individually. Collective security implies thus, that peace is indivisible. A potential aggressor would be scared of the concerted actions of all other states against him. This has, however, not been the case with either the LoN or the UN.⁸⁷

⁸¹Ulusoy H 'Possible transformation of collective security arrangements in the post-September 11 era." P.1.

⁸² C. Tilly, (1992) Coercion, Capital and European States, AD 990-1992, Cambridge: Blackwell, p.1.

⁸³ Schwarzenberger, G. (1951) Power Politics: A Study of International Society (2nd ed.) London. p.521.

⁸⁴ Chaturvedi, A. K. (2006) "Dictionary of Political Science". New Delhi: Academic India Publishers. P.150.

⁸⁵ See Ebegbulem J C. The Failure Of Collective Security In The Post World Wars I and II

International System International Journal of Peace and Conflict Studies (Ijpcs), Vol. 1, No. 1, October 2012, p.2

⁸⁶ Van der Waag I,J. (1989) "*Interstate Collective Security: its development and decline in Scientia Militaria*," South African Journal of Military Studies, Vol 19, no 1,.p.32 ⁸⁷ Duchacek I, D. *Nations and Men; International Politics Today*, p. 348.

The UN is the basis of the current concept of collective security in the world⁸⁸. Based on Chapter VIII of the UN Charter which provides for "pacific settlement of local disputes before referring such disputes to the United Nations Security Council" by regional organizations, the EU, the AU, the EAC and ECOWAS among others came up with policy instruments to manage local security and settle conflicts and disputes within their regions in a collective manner.

Collective security is based on four principles: all countries forswear the use of force except in self defence, all agree that peace is indivisible, all pledge to unite to halt aggression and restore the peace, and finally all agree to supply whatever resources that are necessary for the collective security.⁸⁹ While for Standley a workable collective security system should include representativeness in composition and adequate financing, 90 for Ziring et al, the essential elements include consensus that peace is indivisible and members share the same threat perception, commitment to act based on the system's principles and organization, and the capacity to deter most potential violators and to defeat an actual aggressor in short order. 91

Collective security has been said to be unrealistic. States may not abandon conceptions of self-interest as a guide to policy in preference of a world society interested in preserving law and order everywhere.⁹² Many countries would not take up an act thought to be too risky or expensive. Contrary to Article 43 of the UN Charter that member countries provide assistance in maintaining international peace and security, most countries in the UN have been reluctant to entrust their sovereign interests to collective action, only doing it if it is of interest to them. 93

⁸⁸ Articles 48 and 49 of the UN charter.

⁸⁹Rourke, J. and Boyer, M. (2003). *International Politics on the World Stage*. (5th ed.). New York: McGraw Hill. p.279. ⁹⁰ Standley, H. (1991). *UN System of Collective Security and Humanitarian Intervention*. Colorado: Westview

Press.pp. Pp.6-9.

⁹¹ Ziring L., Riggs, R and Plano, J (2005). 'The United Nations: International Organization and World Politics', (4th Ed). Canada: Thomson Wadworth.

⁹²Dyke, V. N. (1957) "International Politics". New York: Meredith Corporation

⁹³ Rourke, J.and Boyer, M. op cit, 279.

The disparity of power among the member states within organizations also renders collective security challenging. A world society may defeat aggression by a smaller country, but the same may not occur to great powers, who may even take unilateral action, in contrary with the decision of the collective organization. The US and Britain unilateral action in Iraq in 2003 is a case in point. In between the two World Wars, the LoN did not respond to Japan's invasion of Manchuria and Italy's assault on Ethiopia "because of lack of commitment on the part of other states and an unwillingness of the International Community to act in concert". In addition, the U.S.A's refusal to join the LoN and the rise of the Soviet Union outside the League contributed to the organization's lack of the necessary leverage against the aggressor states. A successful Collective security therefore requires membership of the entire system: the exclusion of states with powerful economies and of strong militaries reduces its chances of success.

Overdependence of the UNSC on the member-governments, for assistance, especially the principal financiers like the US, is a challenge to the UN. Some of these nations act unilaterally without approval of the UNSC or even defy its orders thus contradicting the principles and intentions of collective security. Concerning representation, the UN has not completely applied the Principle of Collective security on a universal basis. Africa is not represented in the permanent membership of the UNSC neither does it have any veto powers in the organization.

Despite all these challenges, the UN as the present basis of collective security organizations has provided the framework for managing conflicts thus reducing tensions among states in the international community. The great powers may have used the veto powers in their own national interest, but they have also greatly reduced interstate conflicts using the same

-

⁹⁴ Ibid p.7

⁹⁵ Mingst, K. (1999) Essentials of International Relations. New York: W. W. Norton & Company Inc. p.229.

⁹⁶ Claude Jr., I. L. (1971). Swords into plowshares. The problems and progress of international organization. 4th Ed. New York: Random House.

powers, consequently encouraging other pacific mechanisms to manage conflicts among states. The UN's enforcement action against North Korea in 1950 also proved and reinforced the idea that collective security under the organization was possible.⁹⁷

2.3 Evolution of Collective Security in Eastern Africa

In Africa, the old economic and security entities created with a 'state-centric' approach to security had to be restructured and new ones established to respond and adequately address the new demanding security concerns. The OAU was restructured to AU, while in East Africa, the Inter-governmental Authority in Drought and Desertification (IGADD) was changed to IGAD.⁹⁸

The AU has embraced a more proactive role in peace and security activities with some of its peace support operations (PSO) having been in DRC Congo, Somalia and Sudan. The organization has also established continent wide African standby Peacekeeping force (ASF) as a collective security initiative. Member states have a role to play in regional security, under the sub regional standby forces and through the sub-regional RECS and security mechanisms.

The adoption of the Kampala Document that had called for the establishment of a Conference on Security, Stability, Development and Cooperation in Africa (CSSDA) initiated a paradigm shift in the understanding of security in Africa, the emphasis being that security, stability and cooperation were pillars of development in Africa. In essence then, "the security and stability of each African country was inseparably linked with the security of all African countries" and for Africa to progress, collective, lasting solution to its problems of security and

⁹⁸ Bah S, A 'The Evolution of Regional and Subregional Collective Security Mechanisms in Post-Cold War Africa' in (eds.) Jones, B,Forman S and Gowan, R. *Cooperating for Peace and Security and Security: Evolving institutions and Arrangements in a context of changing U.S security Policy*. New York, 2010. P. 270.

⁹⁷ Although critics have argued that the issue was not collective action against North Korea, but a matter of collective defence against N.Korea which was an enemy of the U.S.A and its allies.

stability was needed.⁹⁹ A security community of African states where the security of every state and its people was assured was necessary for purposes of peace, unity and development.

The Rwanda genocide and the new growing need to redefine security in its broadness triggered the need to develop jointly effective prevention and mitigating mechanisms to deal with conflicts in the region and the need for a people-centered approach to security in the continent. Hence restructuring of most of the security institutions in Africa to reflect the security realities on the ground took place. Security was thus defined as the freedom from fear or want. 100 ECOWAS, for instance, in 1975 had adopted the Protocol on Non-Aggression (PAN) and in 1981 the Protocol on Mutual Assistance on Defence (PMAD) - the former emphasizing on territorial integrity¹⁰¹ and the latter declaring that "...any armed aggression directed against any member state shall constitute a threat or aggression against the entire community", 102. In 1991, based on the PMAD, ECOWAS deployed the ECOWAS Ceasefire and Monitoring Group (ECOMOG) in Liberia. 103 In 1999, ECOWAS further adopted another conflict management mechanism which provided for internal conflicts that threaten human security, peace and security of the sub region. A supplementary protocol on Democracy and Good Governance was also adopted in 2001¹⁰⁴ upon which, in 2003, ECOWAS and partners deployed two peace operations in Cote d'Ivoire and in Liberia; and also in Togo (2005) and Guinea (2007). 105

Eastern Africa has also embraced the concept of collective security through its security and development organizations. These institutions have made greater efforts to curb insecurity in

⁹⁹ THE KAMPALA DOCUMENT: Towards a Conference on Security, Stability, Development and Cooperation in Africa Kampala 19 -22 May 1991

¹⁰⁰Bah S, A Op cit 20. P. 273

ECOWAS protocol Non-Aggression, Lagos, April 22, 1978.

¹⁰² ECOWAS A/SP5/5/81 Relating to Mutual Assistance on Defense, Freetown, Sierra Leone, May 1981.

¹⁰³ Bah S,A . Op cit 22. p. 274.

¹⁰⁴ See 'Protocol A/SP1/12/01 on Democracy and Good Governance- Supplementary to the Protocol relating to the Mechanism for Conflict Prevention, Management, Resolution, Peacekeeping and Security," Dakar, Senegal, December 21,2001.

¹⁰⁵ Duchacek I, D. Op cit 9. pp.274-275

the region 106. They include RECs like the East African Community (EAC) and the Common Market for East and Southern Africa (COMESA), security and development organizations such Conference IGAD. the International the on Great Lakes Region (ICGLR) and the East African Standby Force (EASF). All these co-existing organizations, sometimes with overlapping membership, form the Eastern African Peace and Security Architecture (EAPSA). ¹⁰⁷ EAPSA however faces some challenges, among them the extremely conflict prone region lack of clear policies and framework under which the collective organization can work. To evaluate collective security initiatives in this region, a discussion of the nature and dynamics of conflict in the region is necessary.

2.4 Nature and Dynamics of Conflicts in Eastern Africa

Eastern Africa as a sub region includes the Greater Horn, East Africa, the Great Lakes Region and the Indian Ocean islands. In this paper, countries in the Eastern Africa region comprise of countries in the EAC, IGAD, ICGLR and the EASF. These are Djibouti, Somalia, Sudan, Ethiopia, Eritrea, Kenya, Tanzania, Uganda, Rwanda, Burundi, Democratic Republic of Congo, and the ocean islands of Seychelles, Mauritius and Madagascar. The region is characterized by a long history of conflicts and also accounts for some of the world's deadliest conflicts. There are also non-conventional and transnational security threats like terrorism, yet the capacity of individual states to address insecurity has weakened over time.

Insecurity continues to render the region unstable despite the efforts put in place to ensure peace and stability. Recent accounts of insecurity include several terrorist attacks especially in

¹⁰⁶ Berman, E & Sams, K. (2000). *Peacekeeping in Africa: Capabilities and Culpabilities*. (United Nations Institute for Disarmament Research, Geneva,) p. 380.

¹⁰⁷Fanta E Regionalising Peace and Security in Eastern Africa: Credible Hope or Elusive Dream *UNU – CRIS. P.2*¹⁰⁸ For example the Somali civil war, The Sudan civil war, Ethiopian civil war, Eritrean war of Independence,
Ethiopian-Eritrean war, Ogaden war, the Rwanda genocide, the Darfur conflict and the DRC instability

Kenya, electoral conflicts, ethnic/tribal conflicts like in the new independent state of South Sudan between the Dinkas and the Nuer, and conflicts related to constitutions such as the recent civil unrest in Burundi over President Nkurunzinza's 'third' term in office.

Conflict in the EAR, more so the intra state one, can be attributed to persistent high level of poverty and the rise in the susceptibility of many parts of Africa to drought. Environmental factors like climate change have caused conflict in the region. One of the factors attributed to the Darfur conflict is competition for the scarce water resources and grazing lands.

Conflict in the region has been shaped by resource abundance and the struggle to control the exploitation these resources. In the Great Lakes region, competition to control these high value minerals has been a major conflict driver. Sudan and South Sudan still have a dispute over the control and exploitation of revenue from oil and natural gas deposits in Abyei. The spillover effect of such conflicts also attracts external actors with their own interests in the conflict.¹¹¹

The geostrategic importance of the region contributes to its insecurity. The effects of the Cold war and the superpowers left the region with many weapons hence contributing to the continuous problem of SALW proliferation. The post 9/11 anti-terrorism campaign has also contributed to the strategic importance of the EAR. Incidences of insecurity in the region have been high given that both terrorism and counter-terrorism acts come into play in the region. 113

1/

1300 Pennsylvania Avenue, NY. p.32

¹⁰⁹Collier, P, (2003). World Bank, *Breaking the Conflict Trap: Civil War and Development Policy*, Washington DC: World Bank Publications.

Markakis, J, "Environmental Degradation and Social Conflict in the Horn of Africa" in Spillman, Kurt R.
 and Günther B(Eds.) Environmental Crisis: Regional Conflicts and Ways of Cooperation. Environment and
 Conflicts Project Occasional Paper No. 14. Zurich: Center for Security Studies and Conflict Research, p.199.
 East Africa Regional Conflict and Instability Assessment final report U.S. Agency for International Development

¹¹²Wairagu, F K.,(2003) "The Proliferation of Small Arms and Their Role in the Escalating Conflicts in East Africa" in Nhema, Alfred G. (ed) *The Quest for Peace in Africa*, Addis Ababa: International Books with OSSREA, and Lefebvre, Jeffrey A., (1991) *Arm s for the Horn: U.S. Security Policy in Ethiopia and Somalia*, 1953-1991, Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press,

Kagwanja, Peter, (2006) 'Counterterrorism in the Horn of Africa: New security frontiers, old strategies' African Security Review 15 (3).

Most countries in the EAR have experienced political instability¹¹⁴ related to factors such as the alienation of state structures and processes from the public, and the decline of constitutionalism and lack of democratic forms of governance.¹¹⁵ The post-election conflicts in Kenya and Ethiopia¹¹⁶ and in Uganda in 2006¹¹⁷ can attest to this fact.

The violent acts of insurgent groups are common in the region and they not only affect innocent civilians but threaten the survival of regimes or states. Insurgent activities have sometimes led to secessionist states. The violent insurgent activities by the Eritrean Liberation Front (ELF) eventually led to a new Eritrean State¹¹⁸ while the rebellious actions of the Sudanese Peoples' Liberation Movement /Army (SPLM/A) against the Khartoum government eventually led to the new South Sudan government.

In the EAR region, some heads of state have themselves come to power through rebel groups that overthrew the Central governments. Out of perceived fear of the existence of other rebel groups, such governments often use of military force to silence the rebel groups, and or support insurgent groups to fight proxy wars against the enemy of the regime, usually a neighbouring state. The conflict in Sudan, before secession of South Sudan, and the insecurity in Northern Uganda had greatly been sustained by the acts of insurgency supported by the Khartoum government and the Ugandan government. ¹¹⁹ In the Darfur region, Chad has been

__

and, then (ear) (2001) islamism and its Elicinics in the Horn of Hyrica, Estadon. Haise & Col

¹¹⁴ Jackson R, Violent internal conflicts and the African state: towards a framework of analysis, *Journal of Contemporary African Studies* 20(1), pp.29-52, http://cadair.aber. ac.uk/ dspace/handle/2160/1953 (accessed 14 August 2015); and Makau wa Mutua, Putting Humpty Dumpty back together: the dilemmas of the post-colonial African state, *Brooklyn Journal of International Law* 21 (1995), p. 505;

¹¹⁵ Jackson, R. (2006) 'Africa's wars: overview, causes, the challenges of conflict transformation', in Oliver Furley and Roy May (eds), *Ending Africa's wars: progressing to peace*, Aldershot: Ashgate, p.15.

¹¹⁶Dersso S, A. 'The role and place of the African Standby Force within the African Peace and Security Architecture', *Institute for Security studies Paper 209*, January 2010. Pp.1-3

¹¹⁷See: Mwenda, A M. "Personalizing Power in Uganda", *Journal of Democracy*, 18 (3), July 2007 and Abbink, J, "Discomfiture of Democracy? The 2005 election crisis in Ethiopia and its aftermath", *African Affairs* 105(419) 2006 ¹¹⁸Pool, D, (2001) *From Guerillas to Government. The Eritrean People's Liberation Front*, Oxford: James Currey. ¹¹⁹ See Fanta E. Op cit, p.8 and De Waal, A,(2001) "The Politics of Destabilisation in the Horn, 1989-2001" in De Waal, Alex (ed.) (2004) *Islamism and its Enemies in the Horn of Africa*, London: Hurst & Company.

accused of supporting the Justice and Equality Movement (JEM) and the Khartoum government of supporting the Janjaweed militias. 120

Inter-ethnic relations across the porous international borders exist in the EAR, and hence the regionalization of conflicts because of the spillover effects. This may cause political and social conflicts, or proxy wars between the concerned countries. 121

Disputes over international borders in the region have sometimes resulted into armed conflict between states. The Ogaden war between Ethiopia and Somalia and the Ethio- Eritrean war over a border territory are examples. 122 Other territorial disputes in the region continue to be witnessed such as the Kenya and Uganda dispute over a barren rock island in Lake Victoria, and the Sudan-South Sudan dispute over their common border in the Abyei region.

The dynamics of conflicts in the EAR region discussed herein can define almost all countries in the region. Consequently, there is no individual state in the region that can plan for its own security without taking into account the security dynamics of the neighbouring states. Security interdependence and collective approach to security in the region is thus not a choice. 123

With reference to the CSSDA, the EAR region has been regionalizing its collective security and conflict resolution initiatives to address the security challenges in the region under several security sub regional organizations or RECS that are autonomous and with cross-cutting functions. However, the African Union has taken important steps towards harmonizing the continent's security initiatives, by among other things, creating regionally based multinational brigades as part of an African Standby Force and limiting official co-operation to

¹²⁰ Marchal, Roland (2006) "Chad/Darfur: How two crises merge", Review of African Political Economy, 33 (109); Prunier, Gerard, (2004) "Rebel movements and Proxy Warfare: Uganda, Sudan and the Congo (1986-1999)", African Affairs, 103 (412).

¹²¹Prendergast, J and Mozersky, D, "Love Thy Neighbor: Regional Intervention in Sudan's Civil War", Harvard Int ernational Review, 26 (1) 2004.

¹²² Fanta E. Op cit, Pp.10-11

Barry Buzan, Ole Wæver, Jaap de Wilde, Security: A New Framework for Analysis, Lynne Rienner Publishers: London 1998, p12.

seven organizations so as to prevent needless duplication of efforts and to ensure effective use of the continent's limited resources. 124

2.5 Regional Economic Communities (RECs) and Regional Mechanisms in Eastern Africa and their role in Eastern Africa Collective Security

Regionalization of peace and security initiatives at the regional and sub-regional level has been going on under the strategic guidance of the continental political body: the AU. In the EAR, despite the efforts to address peace and security issues, there have been persistent challenges like overlapping membership in organizations and the problem of finance. For substantive efforts in this field to be realized, there is need for better collaboration between the AU, the SROs/RECs and other partners. Article 3 of the AU Constitutive Act recognizes RECs as the "implementing arms" of the AU's goal of a peaceful and prosperous continent. This was based on the role RECS play in ensuring political stability and their role in regional development.

The AU which is the regional body with which all sub regional organizations align their policies, strategies and guidance in matters of peace and security, and is also the author of the APSA framework, upon which all the regional security mechanisms should be anchored, will be briefly discussed before an analysis of the various RECs/ROs in Eastern Africa is done.

2.5.1 The African Union and Regional Security in Eastern Africa

The African Union was founded in March 2001 in Libya with a broader mandate than its predecessor the OAU. The AU Constitutive Act, while recognizing the respect for territorial integrity and respect for sovereignty of nation States, mandates the organization

¹²⁴See C.A. Mumma-Martinon. (2010). Efforts towards Conflict Prevention in the Eastern African Region: *The Role of Regional Economic Communities and Regional Mechanisms*. International Peace Support Training Centre, Karen. P. 13.

38

pursuant to a decision of the Assembly, to deal with human rights issues which are no longer regarded as matters essentially within the domestic jurisdiction of States, in Member States. ¹²⁵ The organization thus forms the basis of collective security mechanism in the Eastern Africa. The Constitutive Act also provided for the establishment of the APSA¹²⁶ in which a rapid reaction force under the African Standby Force (ASF) was envisaged. The ASF has five sub regional brigades in which the participation of all countries in regional peace and security initiatives is expected. The Eastern Africa component of the ASF is the EASF.

While the AU provides strategy, guidance and policies for regional peace and security, RECs play a major role in the development of APSA as coordinating and facilitating instruments towards a holistic approach to peace and security in Africa. The AU also lacks the capacity to provide centralized guidance and authority and has therefore delegated some of its decision-making to SROs which are conversant with the local realities and are able to carry out policies based on the related comparative advantages.¹²⁷

The relationship between the AU and the RECs has a legal basis in the *Protocol on Relations between the African Union and the Regional Economic Communities* signed between the AU and eight RECs in 2008.¹²⁸ Article 6 of this protocol specifically refers to collaborative efforts to ensure "the full operationalization and effective functioning of the APSA". ¹²⁹

The AU therefore through its PSC has the responsibility of monitoring and intervening in conflict on the continent and also mandates and oversees an African force capable of rapid

¹²⁸ See the Protocol on Relations between the African Economic Community and the Regional Economic Communities, 1998.

¹²⁵ Constitutive Act of the African Union 2001, Article 4(h).

¹²⁶APSA is the collective term for the key AU mechanisms for promoting peace, security and stability in the African Union. The APSA pillars are mentioned in Article 2 of the 2002 Protocol establishing the African Union's Peace and Security Council (PSC). They include the PSC, the Continental Early Warning System (CEWS), the African Stand-by Force (ASF), a Panel of the Wise (PoW), and the AU Peace Fund (APF).

¹²⁷ C.A, Mumma-Martinon. (2010). Op cit 46, p.15.

Memorandum of Understanding on cooperation in the area of peace and security between the African Union, the Regional Economic Communities and the Coordinating Mechanisms of the Regional Standby Brigades. June 2008.

deployment and conducted in a manner consistent with both the UN and the AU Charters and the Cairo Declaration of 1993. ¹³⁰ The AU protocol relating to the Establishment of the PSC Protocol and the APSA also realized the importance of RECs and Regional Mechanisms in CPMR.

2.5.2 Inter-Governmental Authority on Development (IGAD)

IGAD was founded in 1996 to replace IGADD which had earlier been founded in 1986 to address, alongside national efforts of Member States, the recurring natural disasters that had caused severe hardship in the Eastern Africa region. Member states are Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan and Uganda. 131

IGAD's mandate goes beyond the promotion of greater regional political and economic cooperation. It is also aimed at promoting peace and security in the region by seeking to "create mechanisms for the CPMR of inter and intra-State conflicts through dialogue; facilitate repatriation and reintegration of refugees, returnees and displaced persons and demobilized soldiers" and member states to deal with disputes "within the sub regional mechanism before they are referred to other regional or international organizations". ¹³² For IGAD, threats to regional security therefore comprises of developmental, environmental and economic issues. 133

The key organs of IGAD are the Assembly of Heads of State and Government, the Council of Ministers, and the Committee of Ambassadors. Other organs are the IGAD Member States' Speakers of Parliament, the Civil Society Forum, and Partners Forum (IPF).

¹³⁰ Brett Julian. Report on The Inter-relationship between the African Peace and Security Architecture, the Global Peace and Security Architecture and Regional Initiatives for the Danish Embassy in Addis Ababa. 24 October 2013. ¹³¹African Union Handbook 2014: A Guide for Those Working With and Within the African Union. Pg. 126.

¹³² See article 7, 8 and 13 of the Agreement establishing IGAD on its aims and objectives.

¹³³Jacobsen, K and Johannes, R (2012). East Africa: Regional Security Organizations and Dynamics. Danish Institute for International Studies. Copenhagen, Denmark ·P.3.

In 2000, IGAD established sub regional mechanisms for CPMR of inter-state and intrastate conflicts.¹³⁴ Member states adopted the protocol on the "Conflict Early Warning and Response Mechanism" (CEWARN) ¹³⁵to assist in conflict prevention through information gathering and early responses to any detected problem. IGAD develops capacity in the management of arms proliferation through the Regional Center for the Control of Small Arms and Light Weapons (RECSA). The IGAD Capacity Building Program against Terrorism (ICPAT) is a counter-terrorism initiative supported by IGAD partners.¹³⁶

IGAD has prioritized the establishment of a Mediation Support Unit¹³⁷. IGAD's considerable experience in mediating conflicts has largely contributed in the Sudan and Somalia peace processes.¹³⁸ IGAD had also proposed deployment of a Peace Support force in Somalia (IGASOM) in 2102 but it failed to materialize because of lack of consensus among the member states. Having signed a Protocol on Relations between the AEC and RECs on 25 February 1998, IGAD also collaborates with COMESA and the EAC to avoid project duplication.

IGAD has also contributed in conflict prevention by initiating and promoting programmes and projects geared towards food and environmental security. IGAD recognizes the need to meet the basic needs of the society as a way of ensuring that peace and security prevail.

Although IGAD has done fairly well in contributing towards regional peace and security, it has faced certain challenges. Lack of resources occasioned by factors like non-remittance of

¹¹

¹³⁴ See art. 3.2 in the "Khartoum Declaration" of the 8th Summit of Heads of State and Government, 23 November 2000, at www.igad.org/library/docs/8th_summit_decleration_khartoum.pdf.

¹³⁵ Protocol on the Establishment of a Conflict Early Warning and Response Mechanism for IGAD Member States' at www.igad.org/library/docs/cewarn_protocol.pdf. See also Mwaura, Ciru & Susanne Schmeid (eds.) (2002): *Early Warning and Conflict Management in the Horn of Africa*. Lawrenceville, NJ: Red Sea Press.P.45.

¹³⁶ Møller B (2009). 'Africa's Sub-Regional Organizations: Seamless Web or Patchwork? Crisis States Working Paper no.56. Danish Institute for International Studies. P.13. See also Juma, M K. 2007. 'The Role of the Inter-Governmental Authority on Development in Preventing and Combating Terrorism', in Andre Le Sage (ed.), *African Cooperation. Assessing Regional and Sub-regional Initiatives*. Dulles:Potomac Books.

¹³⁷ African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA) 2010 Assessment Study. P.54

¹³⁸ Prendergast, J and Mozersky, D (2004) "Love Thy Neighbor: Regional Intervention in Sudan's Civil War", *Harvard International Review*, 26 (1).

members' annual contributions has subjected the organization to depend on external support, for which purpose an "IGAD Partners Forum" has been established. IGAD also lacks the institutional and political authority attributed to widespread inter and intrastate conflicts, deep political divisions and the absence of hegemony among IGAD countries. There is also a fundamental absence of economic prosperity and good governance in its member states. Hostilities between Ethiopia and Eritrea are still there; and the possibility of having a lead nation is bleak as the two possible countries for this role: Ethiopia and Kenya, each are prominent in different dimensions of power and none of them is strong enough for domination.

Multiple memberships by IGAD Member States in other RECs have hampered the effective coordination of activities and create duplication of resources. Conflict management efforts in Eastern Africa have also often occurred bilaterally or through external actors, instead of IGAD and EAC. ¹⁴²IGAD does not have the capacity to respond militarily to conflict situations and its mandate limits it from intervening in internal conflicts of member countries.

Despite these challenges, IGAD has played an important role in the area of peace and security more so in the conflicts in Sudan and Somalia leading to its recognition in the AU peace and security framework and by the international community. However, the success of IGAD has been hampered by the rivalry between Ethiopia and Eritrea, Sudan and South Sudan and the conflict in Somalia. IGAD is yet to streamline its mandate and structures to reflect the current APSA.¹⁴³

¹³⁹ See the interview with the IPF chairman, Guido La Tella, in *IGAD News*, no. 3-4 (July-August/September-October 2002), pp. 6-7.

Overstretched and Overrated? Prospects of Regional Security Policy in Africa and its European Support International Conference. 9 -10 February 2011. Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung, Berlin. p.21 ¹⁴¹Møller B (2009). Op cit (note 16). P.11

¹⁴² Naldi, G.J (2002). 'Future Trends in Human Rights in Africa: The increased Role of the OAU', in: Malcolm Evans and Rachel Murray (eds.), *The African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights: the System in Practice*, 1986-2000. (Barley: Nadini Press), p. 23.

¹⁴³ EU Assessment Report Moving Africa Forward: Africa Peace and Security Architecture, 2010, p.24.

2.5.3 International Conference on the Great Lakes Region (ICGLR)

The ICGLR is an inter-governmental organization of the countries in the Great Lakes region¹⁴⁴. The formation of the organization was motivated by concern by the UNSC, through its resolutions 1291 and 1304, for the long and deadly conflicts that were going on in the Great Lakes Region, and by the spillover effect of conflicts in the region.

The main objective of ICGLR as a regional mechanism is to transform the Great Lakes region into a place of sustainable peace and security, stability, democracy and development through the coordinated efforts of the member countries. The organization also values the importance of working together with other stakeholders in particular the Group of Friends and Special Envoys and the AU for financial, diplomatic, technical and political support.¹⁴⁵

The legal framework of the ICGRL and its agenda is guided by the ICGLR Pact. The Pact which contains many protocols, action programmes and projects geared towards the ICGLR objective came into effect in 2008, after ratification by 8 of the 11 Member States' Parliaments. The Pact places special emphasis on non-aggression and mutual defence in the ICGLR region. The headquarters is based in Bujumbura and the functions of the Secretariat involve coordination, facilitation, monitoring and thus the implementation of the Pact in order to attain peace, security, political stability and development in the GLR. The four pillars of the ICGLR are peace and security, good governance, economic development and humanitarian issues. 146

The ICGLR experts and authorities meet regularly to fast track implementation of its projects and protocols. The Regional Inter-Ministerial Committee (RIMC) which is the

¹⁴⁴Member countries include Angola, Burundi, Central African Republic, Congo, DR Congo, Kenya, Rwanda, Sudan, South Sudan, Uganda, Tanzania, and Zambia.

¹⁴⁶Church, W and Jowell, M "Conflict Circuit Breakers in the Great Lakes Region of Africa, the ICGLR", *African S ecurity Review*, 16 (1), 2007, p3

Executive board of the ICGLR is in charge of assessing the progress made. There are also National Coordination Mechanisms (NCM) with representatives from civil society, women and youth, to ensure follow up and implementation of decisions made by the Summit and the RIMC.

ICGLR has been involved in many activities aimed at conflict prevention such as Joint security management of common borders which involves projects related to disarmament and repatriation of Armed Groups in Eastern Congo, development of border zones and promotion of human security and demining of the GLR. ICGLR also has a programme on inter-state cooperation on peace and security through projects that deal with the fight against the proliferation of SALW and against Transnational Crime and Terrorism. Under the Protocol on the Fight against the Illegal Exploitation of Natural Resources, ICGRL has developed The Regional Initiative against the Illegal Exploitation of Natural Resources (RINR) which aims at cutting the link between armed conflicts and revenues from natural resources. This is done within the framework of the ICGLR Regional Certification Mechanism. A certification manual to this effect has been developed and approved by the eleven Heads of State. 148

As a new and long term initiative, IGCLR must seek to adjust structures that cause conflicts in the Eastern region and collaborate with other regional security initiatives towards achieving this objective.

2.5.4 The East African Community (EAC)

The EAC comprises of Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania, Rwanda and Burundi and its headquarters are in Arusha, Tanzania. Initially comprising of Kenya, Uganda and Tanzania, EAC was originally established in 1967 to promote regional economic integration, but collapsed in

¹⁴⁷ Ibid

¹⁴⁸The International Conference on the Great Lakes Region (ICGLR): <u>Congo Gold</u>: A Southern Africa Resource watch project.

1977 due to political and ideological differences among its member states. ¹⁴⁹ The Community was re-established by the EAC Treaty in 1999 and entered into force in 2000 following its ratification by Kenya, Uganda and Tanzania. Rwanda and Burundi became members of the EAC in 2007.

The main organs of the EAC are the Summit of Heads of State, the Council of Ministers, fourteen ministerial-level Sectoral councils, the Co-ordination Committee, the East African Court of Justice, the East African Legislative Assembly, and the Secretariat. ¹⁵⁰

The primary focus of the EAC is regional economic integration. EAC however recognizes the importance of regional security in fulfilling its mandate. Articles 124 and 125 of the EAC Treaty deal with defense and security respectively. While defence largely refers to military matters, security broadly refers to matters such as the police reforms, education and infrastructure. Chapter 5 of the Treaty for the Establishment of the EAC provides that peace, security and good neighborliness in the region shall be among the fundamental objectives of the Community. Areas of collaboration in security and defense among member states include the fight against SALW proliferation, cooperation among partner state police forces aimed at stemming cross border criminal activities. These activities are restricted to joint exercises and collaboration between member states. The EAC has no authority over national troops. 152

_

¹⁴⁹ On the background to the EAC, see Ali A. Mazrui and Alamin M. Mazrui, (2002) "The Tensions of East African Integration: Failed Pan Africanism, Emerging Pax Africana?" Paper presented at the International Peace Academy /Makerere University/Africa Peace Forum seminar in Entebbe, Uganda, 16-18 December 2002.

¹⁵⁰ For the functions of EAC organs see African Union Handbook 2014: A Guide for those working with and within the African Union. P.127.

¹⁵¹ Peter Anyang' Nyong'o, "Governance and Democratization in Eastern Africa: Overcoming Conflicts and Initiating Political Integration," paper presented at the International Peace Academy/Makerere University/Africa Peace Forum seminar in Entebbe, Uganda, 16-18 December 2002. See also The 1998 EAC *Memorandum of Understanding on Common Defense and Security* and the 2000 *Memorandum of Understanding on Interstate Security*.

¹⁵² Jowell M. and Fanta E. (2012) 'Regionalizing Peace and Security in Eastern Africa: credible Hope or Elusive Dream' P.20.

The EAC has cooperated with ECOWAS, IGAD and AU which operate various types and levels of early warning mechanisms in the establishing its own Early Warning Mechanism (EWM) considered as one of the most important pillars of conflict and crisis prevention. ¹⁵³ The EAC also put up the Nyerere Centre for Peace Research in Tanzania, to provide informed policy options, training and research to the EAC in the field of peace and security as well as promote peace and security as the main requisites of integration and development in the region.

The EAC just like IGAD gets funds from a partnership fund from which partners fund specific projects. The organization however funds for its daily running from the member states.

Some of the challenges facing the EAC include lack of resources and adequate personnel, slow enforcement of agreements made at EAC meetings at the national level and the difficult for EAC to act on military security matters within member states since the community has no authority over national troops. 154 In addition, Tanzania seems to be reserved concerning the envisaged political federation of East African countries.¹⁵⁵

Despite these challenges, the security activities of EAC which fall under the broader definition of security complement those of other security mechanisms like the EASF, whose activities may be largely militaristic.

2.5.5 The Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA)

46

¹⁵³ C.A. Mumma-Martinon, Op cit, p.19

¹⁵⁴Jacobsen, K and Johannes, R (2012). East Africa: Regional Security Organizations and Dynamics. Danish Institute for International Studies. Copenhagen, Denmark. P.1. ¹⁵⁵ Ibid, p.1

COMESA is a regional integration grouping of twenty African sovereign states 156 who have agreed to promote regional integration through trade development and to develop their natural and human resources for the mutual benefit of all their peoples. 157

COMESA was established in 1993 by the COMESA treaty to replace the Preferential Trade Area for Eastern and Southern Africa (PTA). Other regional organizations operating within the region covered by COMESA include the EAC, IGAD, Indian Ocean Commission (IOC) and the Southern African Development Community (SADC).

The main organs of COMESA are Authority of the Heads of State and Government, Council of Ministers, Inter governmental and technical committees and the secretariat which has nine divisions, gender and resource mobilization units among them.

In Article 3 of the COMESA Treaty, one of the objectives of COMESA is to cooperate in the promotion of peace, security and stability among its member states. The COMESA peace and security agenda came up following the growing concern over the widespread and persistent armed conflicts occurring in Member States, especially in the GLR and in the Horn of Africa, and the devastating impact of these conflicts on the COMESA agenda. 158

A structure for dealing with preventive diplomacy was established in 2000 and it was built on existing national and regional capacity to avoid competition and duplication between COMESA and other organizations. So far, a comprehensive framework for dealing with piracy and money

Swaziland, Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe.

157
Karangizi S, (2001) Sub regional Agenda for Peace and Security: The Case of COMESA. Published in Peace, Human Security and Conflict Prevention in Africa Proceedings of the UNESCO-ISS Expert Meeting held in Pretoria, 23 - 24 July 2001

158 Elizabeth, M. COMESA and the Programme on Peace and Security, National Defense College, 2012, p.84

¹⁵⁶COMESA member states are: Angola, Burundi, the Comoros, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Djibouti, Egypt, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Madagascar, Malawi, Mauritius, Namibia, Rwanda, Seychelles, the Sudan,

laundering in the region has been established.¹⁵⁹ COMESA has proposed a number of principles like the non-aggression agreement and the peaceful resolution of disputes among member states.

COMESA, working together with IGAD and EAC and funded by the European Union has developed a CPMR strategy for the Eastern and Southern Africa (ESA) region to fight against War Economy with the aim of de-linking the illegal exploitation of natural resources from propagation of conflicts or relapse to conflict.

COMESA encourages Member states to enhance democracy, good governance and the rule of law through implementing Article 6h of the COMESA Treaty. COMESA also bridges the gap between SADC, EAC, IGAD and the Maghreb Union in implementation of peace and security agenda and has provided mediation in many conflicts in its region like in Burundi.

Some COMESA institutions seem to reflect the AU APSA. In 2009, an early warning system was established in line with the CEWS of the AU. Although not fully developed, the COMESA Conflict Early Warning System (COMWARN) endeavors to prevent conflict through preventive diplomacy. Civil Society Organizations and the Private Sector Organizations are also engaged to strengthen COMESA policies at national and regional levels so as to enhance good governance, and offer a good opportunity to actualize multi- track diplomacy. The COMESA Inter-parliamentary Forum ensures the implementation of international instruments and peace agreements while the Committee of Elders that are to work as Peace envoys. These programmes contribute to enhanced regional peace and security and the implementation of APSA. 160

COMESA works in line with the AU Post Conflict Reconstruction and Development policy that was adopted in Banjul in 2006 to ensure that transition from conflict to peace is well coordinated, multidimensional and integrated. COMESA has also been working with DFID and

¹⁵⁹ Ibid, p.85 ¹⁶⁰ Ibid, p.78

USAID on a project called 'Trading for Peace' whose overall objective is to strengthen peace and security through fair and equitable trade. Ten trade information desks have been established at various border posts of the Great Lakes Region to provide small scale cross-border traders with information on pricing, taxes and markets.

Although COMESA has a comprehensive gender policy and a gender unit, it lacks the requisite resources for effective implementation of the gender policy in member states.¹⁶¹ Just like other RECs, its secretariat and member states have a weak human and institutional capacity base.¹⁶² There is also a weak resource mobilization and utilization capacity as evidenced in member states' arrears, heavy reliance on donor support and poor coordination of resources.

2.6 The Eastern Africa Standby Force (EASF)

2.6.1 The African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA)

Since its inauguration in 2002, the AU has embarked on an elaborate normative and institutional transformation. Article 4(h) and (j) of the AU Constitutive Act empowers member states to intervene in situations involving crimes against humanity, war crimes and genocide. The AU further adopted the Protocol relating to the establishment of the PSC, which embraces an expanded and comprehensive agenda for peace and security through the APSA. APSA includes conflict prevention, early warning and preventive diplomacy, peace-making and peace building, promotion of democratic practices, intervention, humanitarian action and disaster management.

The APSA structures includes the AU PSC which is 'the nerve centre 'of the APSA and to serve as a standing decision making Organ of the AU. Other institutions of APSA that support

¹⁶² See The African Capacity Building Foundation (2008): "A survey of the capacity needs of Africa's Regional Economic Communities" Harare, Zimbabwe.

¹⁶¹Ndomo, A. 'Regional Economic Communities in Africa. A Progress Overview Study Commissioned by GTZ.' Nairobi, May 2009. P.31.

the work of the PSC are the AU Commission, the Panel of the Wise, the Continental Early Warning System (CEWS), the ASF and a Special Fund/ Peace fund. The AU PSC Protocol underscores the importance of interdependence and synergy between and among the pillars. Articles 8 and 16 of the PSC protocol provide for the Military Staff Committee and Regional Mechanisms for CPMR as additional components of the APSA, hence the importance of having functional RECs/RMs. The success of the APSA therefore largely depends on a synergistic linkage between the APSA structures at one level, and the AU and the RECs/RMs at another.

While early warning information provided to the Chairperson of the Commission through the CEWS would provide the PSC with an opportunity of taking preventive, the Panel of the Wise could be deployed to support efforts of the PSC and also plays an advisory and peacemaking role. But in situations of grave magnitude as envisaged in the AU Constitutive Act, intervention may be needed. The African Standby Force to deal with such eventualities would be of necessity.

2.6.2 The African Standby Force (ASF)

The idea of a 'Pan-African army' traces its origin to the proposal to establish a 'common defence system with an African high command' brought forth by Kwame Nkrumah in the 1960s. The objective was to defend the continent against any threats to security and to engage the force in the liberation of countries that were still under the colonial rule. However, with the structural weaknesses of the OAU and of member states, the concept was not realized.

Article 13 of the Protocol establishing the AU PSC envisaged the establishment of an ASF to be deployed for peace support mission under the authority of the AU PSC and of the AU Assembly. This involves intervention in a Member State in respect of grave circumstances or at the request of a Member State in order to restore peace and security, prevention of a dispute or conflict from escalating, observation and monitoring missions, peace-building and humanitarian assistance and any other functions mandated by the AU PSC and the AU Assembly. Article 13(1) of the Protocol also provides for the ASF to be composed of standby multidisciplinary contingents constituting of civilian, police and military components in their countries of origin, ready for rapid deployment. The ASF concept is based on three levels: continental where the AU Commission is involved; regional with reference to RECs or Regional Mechanisms and national referring to the contribution of individual member states in terms of resources and training in a way that allows for interoperability 164.

Regionally, the ASF constitutes five regional standby forces composed of multidisciplinary contingents on standby in their country of origin and with formation differing

¹⁶³ Ambassador Bethuel Kiplagat, "Characteristics of Conflicts in the region" Presentation during the EASF International Day of Peace, 21 September 2015, Nairobi.

¹⁶⁴ Franke, B. (2010).' Steady but Uneven Progress: The Operationalization of the African Standby Force' in Besada, H. (eds.) *Crafting an African Peace and Security Architecture. Addressing Regional Peace and Conflict in the 21st Century*. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Group, Pp. 180-181.

across regions¹⁶⁵, including full-time Planning Element (PLANELM), Logistics Depot (LD), Brigade Headquarters and Pledged Brigade Units. The five regional forces are the East African Standby Force (EASF), the ECOWAS Standby Force (ESF), the Economic Community of Central African States (ECCAS) Standby Force (FOMAC), the North African Regional Capability (NARC) Standby Force (NASBRIG) and the SADC Standby Force (SSF).¹⁶⁶ These forces are raised and maintained by the five RECs /RMs respectively: EASFCOM, ECOWAS, ECCAS, NARC and SADC. This structural organization implies that the authority over use and deployment of the ASF lies with the AU and RECs/RMs.

The ASF Policy Framework required that each REC/RM would have prepared by 2010, a multidimensional force of about 5,000 personnel. Where binding legal frameworks lack between the AU, RECs/RMs and their member states as is the case in ASF arrangement, force generation may be challenging since forces are to be pledged by states ahead of the decision to deploy. ¹⁶⁷ In the PSC Protocol, the ASF is to be prepared for rapid deployment for a range of modern peacekeeping operations so as to respond to a range of conflict scenarios. ¹⁶⁸

2.6.3 The Eastern Africa Standby Force (EASF)

The EASF is the sub-regional standby force of the ASF for Eastern Africa Region whose objective is to undertake in a timely manner, the functions of maintaining peace and security as mandated by the AU PSC and in accordance with the Constitutive Act of the AU. 169

¹⁶⁵ Fisher L.M. et. al. (2010) *African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA): 2010 Assessment Study*.p.44. Report Commissioned by the African Union's Peace and Security Department and adopted by the Third Meeting of the Chief Executives and Senior Officials of the AU, RECs and RMs on the Implementation of the MoU on Cooperation in the Area of Peace and Security, held from 4-10 November 2010, Zanzibar, Tanzania.

¹⁶⁶Kasumba, Y. et al. (2010). 'An Overview of the African Standby Force (ASF).' in: De Coning, C. and Kasumba, Y (eds.) *The Civilian Dimension of the African Standby Force*. Mount Edgecombe: AU & ACCORD, p.10 ¹⁶⁷ Sarjoh Bah, A, et al. (2014) 'African Peace and Security Architecture: A Handbook.' *Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung*

⁽FES), Addis Ababa Office and the African Union (AU). P.54.

¹⁶⁸ Article 13 of the Protocol establishing the AU PSC.

EASF is a multidimensional force consisting of the military, the police and the civilian components. During the establishment of EASF (earlier referred to as EASBRIG), none of the existing RECs encompassed all the 13 member states of the EAR nor had a directly mandated security role¹⁷⁰. Due to IGAD's recognition by the AU and the international community in the area of peace and security in the region and its inclusion of majority of states of the region ¹⁷¹, the organization was tasked to serve as the interim coordinator of efforts towards the establishment of the EASBRIG. Subsequently, under the auspices of IGAD, the Jinja meeting of Experts on the establishment of the EASBRIG was held in February 2004, followed by a meeting of Eastern African Chiefs of Defence Staff (EACDS) that adopted the Draft Policy Framework for the establishment of EASBRIG. The policy framework was approved and a MoU to that effect signed in April 2005 at the 1st Ordinary Summit of the EASBRIG. In the MoU, EASBRIG's organs were to consist of the Assembly of Eastern Africa Heads of State and Government, the Eastern Africa Council of Ministers of Defense and Security, the Eastern Africa Committee of Chiefs of Defense Staff, the planning element, the brigade headquarters, and the logistics base. 172 Signatories to the memorandum were the Comoros, Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Rwanda, Somalia, Sudan, Uganda, the Seychelles, and Madagascar. By 2011 14 states were technically participating: Comoros, Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Rwanda, Somalia, Sudan, Uganda, the Seychelles, Madagascar, Tanzania, Mauritius, and Burundi. 173

16

¹⁶⁹Bouhuys, J., (2011), "The Eastern Africa Standby Force: Enhancing Peace and Security in the Eastern Africa Region", *Intercom*, No.2, p.27.

¹⁷⁰Alusala, N (2004). "African Standby Force: East Africa Moves On", *African Security Review*, vol. 13(2), pp. 117. ¹⁷¹ IGAD consists of seven Eastern Africa troop contributing countries.

¹⁷² Intergovernmental Authority on Development Secretariat, Memorandum of Understanding on the Establishment of the Eastern Africa Standby Brigade, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, 11 Jun. 2005.

Bouhuys J, 'The Eastern Africa Standby Force: Enhancing Peace and Security in the Eastern Africa Region', Intercom No.2, 2011, p.28.

Protests by non-IGAD states in the EAR over alleged monopoly by some IGAD states¹⁷⁴ and IGAD's lack of the necessary command and control structures required to give technical and political coordination¹⁷⁵ led to the formation of the Eastern Africa Standby Brigade Coordination Mechanism (EASBRICOM), established in 2007 as an independent and all-inclusive coordinating mechanism to take over the coordinating mandate of EASBRIG from IGAD.¹⁷⁶

The term 'brigade' was changed to 'force' during the 2010 Council of Ministers meeting to show existence of multi dimensionality. Thus EASBRIG was changed to EASF implying that the newly renamed force would incorporate the military, police and civilian components. ¹⁷⁷ EASBRICOM was also changed to the Standby Force Coordination Mechanism (EASFCOM).

Today EASF has ten active members: the Comoros, Djibouti, Ethiopia, Kenya, Rwanda, Seychelles, Somalia, Sudan, Uganda and Burundi. Madagascar, Tanzania, Mauritius have since joined the SSF. Eritrea is not a participant and The Republic of South Sudan has the status of observer in the organization since April 2013.¹⁷⁸

The legal framework under which the EASF operates has been a memorandum of understanding (M.O.U) signed by all Members States and the EASBRICOM at the Summit level. The ten members signed an agreement on the establishment of the EASF in December 2014.

^{. .}

¹⁷⁴Robinson C (2014) The Eastern Africa Standby Force: History and Prospects, International Peacekeeping, 21:1, 20-36, DOI:10.1080/13533312.2013.866451

¹⁷⁵ See Eastern African Chiefs of Defence Staff (EACDS) document, 2005.

¹⁷⁶Bayeh, E (2014). The Eastern Africa Standby Force: Roles, Challenges and Prospects. International. Journal of Political Science and Development 2(9): p.197.

¹⁷⁷ African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA), '2010 Assessment Study', Addis Ababa: African Union Peace and Security Department, 2010, p.40. Also, as at 2008, EASBRIG had only one police officer and one civilian. ¹⁷⁸ Cilliers, J. (2008). The African Standby Force, An update on progress. ISS Paper 160. Pretoria: Institute for Security Studies. Also, Kimathi L (2010). "A Common Agenda of Post-Conflict Reconstruction among Eastern Africa's sub-Regional Organizations: Exploring the Challenges", *Occasional paper series 1. No. 2*, Karen: International Peace Support Training Centre. P.23(1-30)

2.6.4 The Aim of the EASF

The objective of the EASF is to carry out the functions of peace and security in a timely manner and in accordance with the constitutive act of the AU.¹⁷⁹ To attain this objective, EASF aspires to enhance regional and continental peace through an effective and efficient regional CPMR capability in Eastern Africa and across the African continent. EASF has thus been working on its mission of developing a fully operational and multidimensional integrated force ready for deployment by 2015. The Strategic Development Plan 2010-2015 was approved during the 2nd Ordinary Summit of the Heads of State and Government held in Comoros, in March 2010.¹⁸⁰

2.6.5 EASF Organs

The M.o.U on the establishment of the EASBRIG provided for three policy organs structured at three levels to manage the affairs of the EASF towards the realization of the organization's mission and vision. These are the Assembly of Eastern Africa Heads of State and Government, the Eastern Africa Council of Ministers of Defence and Security, and the Eastern Africa Committee of Chiefs of Defence Staff (EACDS).¹⁸¹

The Assembly is the supreme authority of EASF and formulates policy, directs and controls the functioning of the EASF. It also authorizes the deployment of the EASF in accordance with the AU Constitutive Act and the PSC Protocol.

The Council of Ministers of Defence and Security of the EASF Member States manages EASF affairs, appoints Director and Heads of Department of the EASFCOM, the heads of EASF Structures and the EASF Commander upon recommendation of the EACDS for stand-alone missions within the EAR. The Council of Ministers is signatory to the MoU.

_

¹⁷⁹ Article 3 of the M.o.U on the establishment of the EASF

¹⁸⁰Cilliers, J. (2008). Op cit 9. P.40.

Articles 6, 7 and 8 of the M.O.U on the establishment of the EASF.

The EACDS is also a signatory to the MoU and provides advice on military matters to the Council of Ministers and the Assembly. It also oversees, directs and manages the planning Element (PLANELM) of the EASF, the Standby Brigade Headquarters, and the Logistics Base on all matters and oversees and directs the EASFCOM on technical matters. ¹⁸²

2.6.6 EASF Structures

EASF consists of four command and control structures: the EASFCOM, the Planning Element (PLANELM), the Brigade Headquarters and the Logistics Base.

2.6.6.1 Eastern Africa Standby Force Coordination Mechanism (EASFCOM)

EASFCOM serves as the Secretariat for all EASF policy organs, structures and activities. It coordinates EASF activities in consultation with relevant authorities of Member States and the AU. The Director and Heads of Departments of EASFCOM are appointed by the Council of Ministers of Defence and Security. Its mandate includes implementation of EASF policies, development and review of EASF policy documents for approval by the Council of Ministers, mobilization of resources in collaboration with key stakeholders, management of the EASF Fund, dissemination of information and public relation activities and liaison with AU, RECs and other organizations on matters relating to EASF. It is located in Nairobi, Kenya.

2.6.6.2 The Planning Element (PLANELM)

Also located in Nairobi, Kenya, the PLANELM is the full time planning headquarters for EASF and it is multi-national and multidimensional. The main function of the PLANELM is to establish a multidimensional force which is capable of planning and preparing for complex PSO

¹⁸² EASF website at http://www.easf<u>com.org/index.php/about-easf</u> accessed on 3 September 2015

in different operational theatres as provided under the six scenarios in the Policy Framework for the Establishment of the ASF. 183 The PLANELM also ensures that that all the multidimensional elements of the Force are on standby in their respective countries for these operations.

The PLANELM constitutes of a military, police and civilian component, with personnel seconded by Member States. Each component has its head. The Joint Chief of Staff coordinates all the three components. The Military component is responsible for force preparation and pre-deployment planning of the EASF. The police component is charged with developing a police component for EASF PSO while the civilian component undertakes substantive and supportive civilian functions in a PSO mission including but not limited to political affairs, planning and coordination, legal advice, public information, human rights and child protection.

2.6.6.3 Eastern Africa Standby Brigade Headquarters (EASBRIG HQ)

Located in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, EASBRIG HQ serves as the command headquarters for preparation and operational command of the military arm of the multidimensional force, that is, the Standby Brigade. It is composed of military and civilian staff seconded by the EASF Member States. EASBRIG HQ works in close collaboration with the PLANELM to prepare the mission Brigade Headquarter structure and plans. The deployment of the EASF is either mandated by the Assembly of EASF or the AU. If the AU mandates the deployment, the PSC of the AU is responsible for the appointment of the commander of the HQ. In the case of deployment, the operational control of the Brigade will be under the AU or UN. Each member state seconds officers to the EASBRIG HQ for a period of two years. 184

57

¹⁸³ EASF (2011): Policy Framework for the Establishment of the Eastern Africa Standby Force (Accessed on 20 August 2015)
¹⁸⁴ Ibid

2.6.6.4 The Logistics Base (LOGBASE)

The EASF Logistics Base is located in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. It is the central regional base for sub-depots and for maintaining, storing and managing the logistical infrastructure of the EASF. Personnel, material and other resources are sent or dispatched to the LogBase to be maintained and supplied for training and operations of the Force. The Log Base coordinates all activities involving logistics of EASF, and if necessary, the base may perform under the mandate and direct control of the AU.

2.7 EASF Mission Scenarios and Timelines

Article 13 of the *PSC Protocol* envisaged the ASF as a mechanism to be used for rapid deployment in the various modern day peacekeeping operations and in accordance with Article 4(h) and 4(j) of the *Constitutive Act*. Consequently, Paragraph 15 of the *ASF Policy Framework for the establishment of the ASF and the Military Staff Committee* identified six mission and deployment scenarios that the ASF was likely to encounter and respond to. The ASF was expected to meet full operation capability (F.O.C) in these six scenarios by 2010. 186

The EASF being one of the ASF standby forces and drawing its mandate from the AU constitutive Act has identical mission scenarios as those of the ASF.

Scenario 1 calls for an AU/regional military advice to a political mission with a deployment time frame of 30 days. The EASF would provide military advice to a political mission, as it happened in Côte d'Ivoire. Possible solutions to the conflict would be recommended to avert the likelihood of Force deployment.

¹⁸⁶ Nibishaka E. (2012). "Peacekeeping in Africa - Can the African Regional Standby Forces Deliver?" International Politics. Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung. Southern Africa. P.2.

¹⁸⁵See the Policy Framework for the Establishment of the African Standby Force and Military Staff Committee, adopted by the African Chiefs of Defence and Staff at their third meeting held in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, on 14 May 2003 (EXP/ASFMSC/2(1).

In Scenario 2, the EASF would provide a regional observer mission to be co-deployed with a UN mission within 30 days. This is similar to the United Nations - African Union Mission in Darfur (UNAMID) and the OAU/AU Liaison Mission in Ethiopia-Eritrea (OLMEE)¹⁸⁷ or the Verification Monitoring Team (VMT) in the Sudan. Missions typical to these scenarios are those in which the conflict has escalated and a ceasefire agreement has been reached upon.

In scenario 3 missions, a stand-alone AU or regional observer mission is proffered within a time frame of 30 days. EASF would therefore be deployed independently such as the AU Mission in Burundi (AMIB).

Scenario 4 entails an AU or regional peacekeeping force for preventive deployment missions, as envisaged in Chapter VI of the U.N Charter, within 30 days. An example is the ECOMOG intervening force in Liberia in the 1990s. The existing relative peace is monitored to ensure that active conflict does not take place or a relapse to active war does not ensue.

Scenario 5 entails an AU Peacekeeping Force for complex multidimensional mission sometimes with -low level spoilers (a feature of many current conflicts). It is typical to the peace enforcement operations as envisaged in Chapter VII of the U.N Charter. A more robust mandate, troops, equipment, funds and logistics are required for this kind of mission. Deployment should be done within 90 days with the military component deploying within 30 days.

Scenario 6 involves AU intervention upon clearance by the AU PSC, in grave situations where the international community does not act promptly. Due to the nature of situations demanding intervention, deployment should be done within 14 days with a robust military force.

¹⁸⁸Alusala N (2004). "African Standby Force: East Africa Moves On", *African Security Review*, vol. 13(2), pp. 113.

59

¹⁸⁷Aliyu B. (2008). Regional Dimensions of Peace Support Operations in the 21st century: A Case Study of the African Standby Force Concept. P.22.

The most challenging scenarios for the ASF/EASF are scenarios 4, 5 and 6. This is obviously related to the fact that the ASF and its sub-regional forces are constrained in terms of operational and resource capabilities. The operational mandate of these missions also lies with the UN and the AU. As a result the EASF is obliged to work under the AU and UN, and with other partners/donors.

In addition, new and frequent threats in the sphere of security such as terrorism and piracy are now common in the Eastern Africa region. Questions have been asked regarding the place of such threats in the above discussed six mission scenarios that are to be used for ASF deployment. A review of these scenarios would therefore be imperative.

The short deployment timeframes, especially in scenario 6 shows that the key attribute of the ASF and its sub-regional forces would be its speed of action and deployment. Development of the Rapid Deployment Capability of the ASF/EASF is therefore of utmost importance.

2.8 Conclusion

Having discussed the EASF's structures and design vis a vis the environment under which the new security mechanism is supposed to operate in, the next chapter looks at the performance of the EASF, which has now been in existence for more than ten years, in the Eastern Africa region and beyond.

CHAPTER THREE

¹⁸⁹ Aboagye, F. (2012). A Stitch in Time Would Have Saved Nine. Operationalizing the African Standby Force. Institute for Security Studies Policy Brief no 34. Available at: http://www.issafrica.org/uploads/ASFPolBrief.pdf [Accessed: 12 July 2015].

PERFORMANCE OF THE EASTERN AFRICAN STANDBY FORCE FROM 2004 TO DATE IN VARIOUS PARTS OF AFRICA

3.1 Introduction

This chapter set out to identify and assess the performance of the *Eastern Africa Standby Force* (*EASF*) to date in various parts of Africa. The chapter starts by conceptualizing Peace Support Operations, performance thereof and its measurements. The chapter then delves into providing an overview of pre-EASF Peace Support Operations taking case studies of United Nations Operation in Somalia (UNOSOM) in Somalia and United Nations Assistance Mission in Rwanda (UNAMIR). Further, an overview of EASF Peace Support Operations (2004 to date) is provided, culminating into a comparative analysis, then the chapter conclusion.

3.2 The Concept of Peace Support Operations

Three central ideologies have since the inauguration of United Nations Peacekeeping missions directed the operations of all missions: consensus of the parties to the presence of peacekeepers, neutrality in execution of the peacekeeping command, as well as a regulated use of force. ¹⁹⁰Whereas the latter principle was for a while restricted to self-defense, the same has since progressed to incorporate defense of civilian non-combatants and in the enforcement of the mandate. As such, modern day missions involve more than just keeping the peace, to include peacemaking, conflict prevention, peace enforcement, mediation and peace building activities. ¹⁹¹

http://daccessddsny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N07/307/66/PDF/N0730766.pdf? Open Element (Accessed: August 23, 2015).

¹⁹⁰ United Nations. (Apr. 13, 2007). Comprehensive report on strengthening the capacity of the United Nations to manage and sustain peace operations. A/61/858.

United Nations. (Feb. 24, 2006). *Peace Operations* 2010. A/60/69, http://www.fas.org/sgp/RL324http://www.un.org/en/peacekeeping/documents/po2010.pdf (Accessed: August 23, 2015). Pgs. 6-10

The UN Charter is has the supreme authority over the conduct of all Peace Support Operations (PSO) globally. The first article in the charter states the purpose of the UN thus: "To maintain international peace and security, and to that end: to take effective collective measures for the prevention and removal of threats to the peace, and for the suppression of acts of aggression or other breaches of the peace, and to bring about by peaceful means, and in conformity with the principles of justice and international law, adjustment or settlement of international disputes or situations which might lead to a breach of the peace". ¹⁹²

In fulfilling this responsibility, Chapter VI of the UN Charter provides for the pacific settlement of disputes by a variety of peaceful measures, which include: negotiation, enquiry, mediation, conciliation, arbitration and judicial settlement. Chapter VII of the charter on the other hand, is essentially coercive and designed to deal with threats to peace, breaches of peace and acts of aggression perpetrated by sovereign states.¹⁹³

3.3 Peace Support Operations Performance and its Measurements

Kruys¹⁹⁴conceptualized the term "peace operation readiness" in terms of three variables, namely Individuals' Mental Readiness, Unit Readiness, and Actual Performance in peace operation readiness. Brainin¹⁹⁵ et al give a more comprehensive description when they define readiness as the level of preparedness for performing one's combat mission. In refining the

United Nations. (Jan. 18, 2008). United Nations Peacekeeping Operations: Principles Guidelines. http://pbpu.unlb.org/pbps/Library/Capstone_Doctrine_ENG.pdf (Accessed: August 23, 2015).

¹⁹³ United Nations. *Charter*. (Jun. 26, 1945), http://www.un.org/en/documents/charter/index.shtml (Accessed: August 23, 2015).

¹⁹⁴Kruys, G.P.H. (2010). Combat readiness with specific reference to armies. In M. Hough & L. du Plessis (Eds), *Selected military issues with specific reference to the Republic of South Africa* (pp.87-105). Pretoria: Institute for Strategic Studies.

¹⁹⁵Brainin, E. et al, M. (2010). Perceived combat readiness as collective efficacy: individual- and group-level analysis. *Military Psychology*, 12(2): 105-119.

concept "peace operation readiness" McClure and Broughton defined the concept as the state of preparedness of a unit to perform its assigned role.

Thomas and O'Hara¹⁹⁷, on the other hand, define peace operation readiness as the measure of a force conducting peace operations successfully against a hostile force. Hooker¹⁹⁸ states that general leadership, operational and tactical planning and execution, logistics, intelligence and a host of other factors are critical for peace operation readiness performance. Alternatively, Chukunov¹⁹⁹ refers to peace operation readiness as a grocery list for war with quantifiable items that can be tallied, bought and paid for. However, he concludes that Vietnam has proved that such a shopkeeper approach to readiness is inadequate.

Article 13 of the Protocol relating to the Establishment of the Peace and Security Council of the African Union (AU) ²⁰⁰, signed in 2002, directs the following functions to EASF: observation and monitoring missions; other types of peace support missions; intervention in a Member State in respect of grave circumstances or at the request of a Member State in order to restore peace and security, in accordance with Article 4(h) and (j) of the Constitutive Act²⁰¹; preventive deployment in order to prevent a dispute or a conflict from escalating, an ongoing violent conflict from spreading to neighboring areas or States, and the resurgence of violence after parties to a conflict have reached an agreement.; peace-building, including post-conflict disarmament and demobilization; humanitarian assistance to alleviate the suffering of civilian

19

²⁰¹ Ibid

¹⁹⁶McClure, P. & Broughton, W. (2009). Measuring the cohesion of military communities. *Armed Forces and Society*, 26(3):473-487.

¹⁹⁷Thomas, T.L. & O'Hara, C.P. (2011). Combat Stress in Chechnya: "The Equal Opportunity Disorder". *Army Medical Department Journal*, Retrieved June 09, 2001 from the World Wide Web: http://call.army.mil/fmso/fmsopubs/issues/Stress. htmm

¹⁹⁸Hooker, R.D. (2012). *Building unbreakable units*. http://www.usafa.af.mil/jscope/JSCOPE98/HOOK98.HTM. (Accessed: August 23, 2015).

¹⁹⁹Chukunov, V.M. (2008). Military security consciousness and the mechanism of its moulding in the RF armed forces. *Military Thought*, 9(2): 67-74.

²⁰⁰EASF (2011): Policy Framework for the Establishment of the Eastern Africa Standby Force (EASF)

population in conflict areas and support efforts to address major natural disasters; and any other functions as may be mandated by the Peace and Security Council or the Assembly.

Against this backdrop, the present study proposes that peace support operations readiness for EASF is measured by resources such as soldiers and other personnel, leaders, equipment and ammunition.

3.4 An Overview of Pre-EASF Peace Support Operations in Eastern Africa

This section provides a detailed overview of Peace Support Operations across the Eastern African region, prior to the formation and operationalization of the EASF. In this regard, two similar peace support operations by the UN organization, but in different theatres are hereby reviewed. These are UNITAF and UNOSOM I and II, and UNAMIR.

3.4.1 Case Study I: UNITAF, UNOSOM I and UNOSOM II in Somalia

Following the assassination of the then Somalia president Abdi Rashid Ali Shermarke in 1969, the army led by its commander Mohamed Siad Barre seized power in a bloodless coup d'état, after which all democratic institutions were dissolved. Despite the undemocratic nature of his regime, Barre's leadership remained popular for some time, not least because of his espousal of an ideal Greater Somalia that would incorporate the province of Ogaden, then a province within Ethiopia. Barre believed that a weakened Ethiopia would not be able to mount a successful defence of Ogaden and in 1977 he waged war with the intention of annexing the

²⁰²Daniels, C, L. (2012). 'Somali Piracy and Terrorism in the Horn of Africa. Labham, Maryland: Scarecrow Press.

province.²⁰³ However, when Ethiopia was reinforced by the USSR and Cuba, the Somali army lost ground and was eventually defeated.²⁰⁴

With the ousting of Barre, the ensuing power vacuum, and the absence of any national military to enforce law and order, rebel leaders fought among themselves in a lengthy and bloodthirsty struggle for political power and control of resources. By the end of 1991, the resulting human suffering left over 20,000 people killed or injured. Within two years, it is believed that somewhere between 300,000 and 500,000 people perished, either as a result of the civil war or as a direct result of the famine, with another 3 million affected in other ways. ²⁰⁵ The ensuing broadcast images of suffering Somalis shocked the Western world and pressured governments and the UN to step up efforts to tackle the humanitarian crisis.

The warring factions agreed to a ceasefire on 3rd March 1992. Consequently, the UN Operation in Somalia (UNOSOM) was established under the provisions of UNSC Resolution 751 on 24thApril 1992 to monitor the ceasefire in Mogadishu, to provide security for UN personnel and supplies, and to escort humanitarian supplies to distribution centers. ²⁰⁶ However, UNOSOM's humanitarian effort progressed slowly because member states were reluctant to commit troops to the project. This was because "fighting and looting by various factions seeking to control ports and distribution routes (had become) an important factor in the political economy of the militia". With little regard for the starving population, the militias even stole humanitarian relief supplies lie food. UN Secretary-General, Boutros-Ghali, reported on

²⁰³Cassanelli, L,V. (2012).. 'A Historian's View of the Prospects for Somali Reconstruction" in What are Somalia s Development Perspectives? Science between Resignation and Hope? (Janzen, Jorge ed.). Berlin: Das ArabischeBuch

²⁰⁴Lefort, R. (2008). *Ethiopia: A Heretical Revolution*? London: Zed Press.

²⁰⁵Ahmed, I. & Green, R. (2011). The Heritage of War and State Collapse in Somalia and Somaliland: Local Level Effects, External Interventions and Reconstruction. Third World Quarterly. 20;1: 113-127

²⁰⁶United Nations Security Council. (1992).Resolution 743, S/RES/743, 21 February, (http://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=S/RES/743(1992)). (Accessed August 23, 2015). ²⁰⁷Lewis, I. & Mayall, James. (2007). 'Somalia in the New Interventionism, 1991-1994: United Nations Experience

in Cambodia, Former Yugoslavia and Somalia (Mayall, James ed.). New York: Cambridge University Press

28thAugust that the main challenge was not the delivery of humanitarian relief supplies, but the protection of convoys transporting these supplies to warehouses and distribution centers.

To counteract the action of the militias, UNSC Resolution 775 immediately authorized an additional 3,000 security troops for UNOSOM. Under the terms of this new resolution, the newly consolidated 4,219-strong UNOSOM was mandated to provide humanitarian relief, to monitor the ceasefire, to provide security, to carry out demobilization and disarmament, and to assist in national reconciliation. However, even with the additional troops, UNOSOM was ineffectual against strong and determined militia groups who considered plunder and robbery as being necessary for survival. In these circumstances, the UNOSOM mission floundered and, with the broadcasting of graphic images of starvation and death among Somali civilians, the Bush administration was pressured into ordering Operation Provide Relief in August 1992.

Under this terms of this order, US military air transports and some 400 personnel were deployed with the intention of airlifting humanitarian aid to remote parts of Somalia, thereby reducing the reliance on trucks to ferry the relief overland and denying the militia groups any opportunity of looting aid. During the six months of Operation Provide Relief, more than 48,000 tons of critically needed relief supplies were airlifted into Somalia. However, in spite of this apparent success in aid delivery, the security situation in Somalia and most notably in the city of Mogadishu, deteriorated worse and it was all too apparent that the aid delivery strategy was unsustainable and was contributing little to the peace effort. On 29thNovember 1992, Boutros-Ghali outlined five options to the UN. 211

²⁰⁸ Supra note 17

²⁰⁹Thakur, R. (2006). From Peacekeeping to Peace Enforcement: The UN Operation in Somalia. *The Journal of Modern African Studies*. 32; 3: 387-410

²¹⁰ Kenneth, A. (2008). Somalia Operations: Lessons Learned. Washington D.C.: Defence University Press.

²¹¹Bellamy, Alex J. & Williams, P. D. (2010). Understanding Peacekeeping (Second Edition). Cambridge: Polity Press

The first was to continue to deploy UNOSOM under the established principles of consensual, non-forceful UN peacekeeping, but then given the scale of the humanitarian crisis, this was clearly inadequate. The second option was to abandon UNOSOM mission and withdraw the force, but an admission of failure of this magnitude could not be contemplated and would be unlikely to find support. The remaining three options involved the use of force. UNOSOM could assume a more aggressive stance, particularly in Mogadishu, in the hope of convincing lawless elements to stop abusing international relief efforts. Alternatively, although deemed to be logistically impractical, the UN could launch a countrywide enforcement operation under its own command and control, and finally, and more realistically, the UNSC could authorize a group of member states to carry out such an operation.²¹²

The latter option was preferred and, when the US informed Boutros-Ghali that it would be prepared to take the lead in organizing a UN-sanctioned forceful mission to establish a secure environment for humanitarian operations in Somalia, Boutros-Ghali agreed but insisted that the mission should be precisely defined and limited in time in order to prepare the way for a return to peacekeeping and post-conflict peace-building. On 3rdDecember 1992, the UNSC, acting under Chapter VII, authorized the use of "all necessary means" to secure the delivery of humanitarian aid to the people of Somalia. This sanctioning of the use of force for the first time in Somalia grew out of a conviction that UNOSOM's existing mandate was inadequate for the challenge of alleviating mass starvation in an environment of total anarchy.

UNSC Resolution 794 required a new response and promised joint, determined, and innovative action by the UN in alleviating the hardship of an entire nation. The Unified Task

²¹²Ayoob, Mohammed. (2011). Humanitarian Intervention and State Sovereignty. *The International Journal of Human Rights*. 6; 1: 81-102

²¹³ Ibid

²¹⁴ Supra note 17

²¹⁵ Supra note 22

Force (UNITAF) headed by and under the command of the US, was established in order to "feed the starving, protect the defenseless and prepare the way for political, economic and social reconstruction". The mission was intended to be short and was to pave the way for "the unique UN peace making military administration" UNOSOM II, which would replace both UNITAF and UNOSOM. Although the deployment of UNITAF significantly altered the terms and raised the stake of American involvement in the Somalia at this time, it is difficult to form any reliable assessment of its success or otherwise. However, there was effective and efficient delivery of aid to save lives. ²¹⁷

In spite of UNOSOM II's Chapter VII mandate and its troop strength of 20,000, "there was a widespread Somali perception that the UN-led forces would be weaker than those of UNITAF". This perception emboldened some Somali factions in Mogadishu, in particular the National Somali administration. However, in submitting recommendations on 3rdMarch 1993 for effecting the transition from UNITAF to UNOSOM II, the Secretary-General noted that, despite UNITAF, a secure environment in Somalia was not yet established and it still had no effective functioning government or local security/police force. ²¹⁹

²¹⁶United Nations Security Council. (1993). Resolution 814, S/RES/814, 26 March, 1993 http://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=S/RES/814 (1993)) (Accessed: August 23, 2015).

²¹⁷Coleman, Katharina. P. (2011). Innovations in African Solutions to African Problems □: the Evolving Practice of Regional Peacekeeping in Sub-Saharan Africa. *The Journal of Modern African Studies*. 49; 4: 517-545

²¹⁸Ibid

²¹⁹Supra note 20

3.4.2 Case Study II: UNAMIR in Rwanda

The endemic Rwandan conflict before the genocide had both immediate and remote causes, which were inextricably intertwined. Ethnicity and historical factors shaped the ethnic conflict and hostilities that the country was experiencing. The upsurge of violence that accompanied the death of the Rwandan President had roots in the history of Rwanda (and Burundi) and the ethnic relationship between the Hutu and Tutsi. ²²⁰The crisis in Rwanda reflects a history of social relations between two ethnically "mobilized" groups, with circles of victimization and reprisals for decades, kept alive in the collective memory to prompt confrontation in episodic instalments. A brief historical review of these hostilities shows that series of ethnic massacres have taken place to consolidate the emergence of a class society with the Hutu who are the majority as servant and a Tutsi minority aristocracy.²²¹

By the time Rwanda obtained independence in July 1962 ethnic identity had become the main source of the political division. The Hutu in power led several ethnic cleansing in Rwanda, which resulted in persecution, massacre, mass exodus and exile of the minority Tutsi into Uganda, Tanzania and Zaire. Subsequently the minority Tutsi acquired increased dominance in Burundi through the military to the detriment of the majority Hutu.²²² The Tutsi refugees and their offspring did not give up their Rwandan identity, or their right to return, to Rwanda. The exclusion of the Tutsi from public life and their elimination during periods of political tension led to an uprising in September 1990, which was crushed but not without bloodshed. The

²²⁰Anyidoho, C. (2004). Guns Over Kigali, "A Review Article on the Rwandan Genocide" West Africa Magazinep.747.

²²¹Zartman W, I, and Deng F, M, (2005). *Conflict Resolution in Africa*, Washington DC: The Brookings Institute. ²²² African Journal on Conflict Prevention, Management and Resolution Vol,1 No 1 January-April, 1997.

genocide and mass displacement of Rwanda people in 1994 is the result of the invasion of the Tutsi refugees from Ugandan who had been excluded from political power for a long time. ²²³

Two weeks after the invasion of North Rwanda by the RPF in October 1990, a subregional summit was held for the first time in Mwanza, Tanzania on 17 October 1990. Several peace conferences were initiated by neighboring countries Tanzania, Uganda, Burundi and Zaire. Each of these had large number of Rwandan refugees, so they became active in promoting a ceasefire and in arranging political settlement. The outcome was a sub-regional conference of the five heads of states which drew up the declaration of Dar-es-salaam of 1991 calling for a cease fire and asking for dialogue between the government and the RPF.²²⁴ Both the Organization of African Unity (OAU) and the United Nations supported the sub-regional effort. However, the initiative to manage the Rwandan crisis was weak since Uganda was part of the conflict and the problem of Tutsi refugees who were claiming their right to go back home was not resolved. Series of peace conferences were held but did not stop the continuous success of the RPF.²²⁵

Complementing the effort of the neighboring countries to resolve the crisis, the OAU played a critical role in negotiating a series of agreement from N'sele (Zaire) in 1990 to Arusha in 1993. The OAU initiated a mediation process that led to the establishment of a 55 man Neutral Observer Group (NMOG) in 1991 to monitor the cease fire. This was later expanded to 120 man observer force, but this mission was not effective due to lack of logistic (vehicles, communications assets) and the strength of the force was too small to cover more than 150km demilitarized zone (DMZ).²²⁶

²²³Adisa, J. (2003). The Conflict of Stranger, the Impact of Rwandan Refugees on Neighboring Countries, African Book Builders Ltd, P.13

²²⁵ Dickson, Y. (2004). Conflicts Resolution in Africa: Challenges for the 21stCentury. *National War College* 8, Abuja, P.28 ²²⁶Aliya, J. (1998) Rwanda Crisis, Lessons for Nigeria, Lecture Delivered at NWC Course 8, Abuja, P.44

The Arusha agreement of 1993 called for a neutral international force of the UN for the implementation of the ceasefire in Rwanda, the inauguration of an enlarged transition government, military reforms, demobilization and preparation for elections. The United Nations Assistance Mission in Rwanda (UNAMIR) took over the OAU Neutral Military Observer Group in October1993. Before the UNAMIR the UN had an observer Mission Uganda-Rwanda (UNOMUR) in Uganda to monitor the border of the two countries and prevent logistic support to RPF from Uganda. 227

The loss of ten Belgium in UNAMIR led the Belgium government to withdraw its contingent from the mission. Consequently, the UN Security Council by its infamous resolution 912 of April 1994 decided to reduce UNAMIR from 2,548 to 270 personnel. Following the downsizing of UNAMIR and the resultant offensive of the RPF, France decided unilaterally to intervene in the south in a humanitarian operation called Operation TURQUOISE ²²⁸. The aim of the TURQUOISE was to protect Hutus form massacre by the RPF whose troops were recording swift successes across the country. Since the UN did not endorse the operation, UNAMIR refused at the beginning to cooperate with the French. The OAU, the international press and the International Community of the Red Cross (ICRC) criticized the withdrawal of UN from Rwanda. In reaction the UN passed the resolution 918 of 1994 for the deployment of a Force of 5,500 to operate in Rwanda under chapter VII. ²²⁹ The new force would support and ensure safe conditions for the displaced persons. The force's main task were to ensure stability and security in the north-western and south western regions of Rwanda, stabilize and monitor the situation in all regions of Rwanda, provide security and support for humanitarian assistance operations inside

²²⁷ Ibid

²²⁸Vogt M, A, and Aminu L,S (1996). *Peacekeeping as a Security Strategy in Africa: Chad and Liberia as Case Studies* (Enugu: Forth Dimension Publishing Co Ltd). p.403.

Aboagye B F. (1999). ECOMOG: A Sub-Regional Experience in Conflict Resolution, Management and Peacekeeping in Liberia, (Accra, Sedco)

Rwanda, and promote, through mediation and good offices, national reconciliation in Rwanda. In the prevailing situation, the need for reinforcements for UNAMIR remained urgent. Two and half months after the UNSC expanded UNAMIR's mandate, a part from a number of military observers, fewer than 500 troops were on the ground.²³⁰

3.5 An Overview of EASF Peace Support Operations: 2004 to date

The Eastern Africa has experienced most tragic conflicts. Conflicts in the region, including interstate and intrastate conflicts, have detrimental effect on the development of strong regional standby force^{231,232,233}. In this regard, almost all members of the region are in a constant turmoil. Currently, the new state of South Sudan is still recovering from the recent internal ethnic motivated conflicts between the Dinkas and the Nuer, the internal crisis in Darfur is still going on, Eritrea has strained relations with Ethiopia and Djibouti, factional groups fighting unconventional war continues to be witnessed inside Somalia and beyond. These conflicts continue to undermine the progress made and efforts of the Eastern Africa Security Architecture²³⁴ of which the EASF forms part.

Although EASF has was established way back in 2004, the security mechanism is relatively new in the area of Peace and security in the EAR. In fact the Full operation capability of this force, just like the other regional standby forces is this year 2015. EASF declared its F.O.C also acknowledged by member states, in November 22, 2014, for full deployment by the

²³⁰ Supra note 34

²³¹ Bachmann O (2011). The African Standby Force: External Support to an African Solution to African Problems? *IDS Research Report*, Brighton: Institute of Development Studies.

²³² Miranda V, Pirozzi N, Schafer K (2012). Towards a Stronger Africa-EU Cooperation on Peace and Security: The Role of African Regional Organizations and Civil Society, *IAI Working Papers*, Roma: Istituto Affari Internazionali. ²³³Mumma-Martinon CA (2013). Efforts towards Conflict Prevention in the Eastern African Region: The Role of Regional Economic Communities and Regional Mechanisms, *Occasional paper, series 1, No. 1.*, Karen: International Peace Support Training Centre (IPSTC)

²³⁴Kinzel W (2008). The African Standby Force of the African Union: The Ambitious Plans, Wide Regional Disparities: An Intermediate Appraisal, Berlin: StiftungWissenschaft und Politik

African Union for peacekeeping missions in the region, thus the force which is now waiting for the authority to be deployed EASF has played only a very limited role in the maintenance of peace and security in the region.

The EASF has experienced various interrelated challenges in its formation. But the force has made some milestones in the area of regional security.

EASF has undertaken conflict prevention activities in the region. These include military advice, observer missions and fact finding missions. 235 The EASF is involved though to a limited extent in conflict prevention activities in Somalia and in the ongoing AMISOM operations. On the request of the AU, EASF sent a fact finding Mission to Somalia. The force also conducted a Force generation Workshop to augment the AMISOM forces in Somalia. In 2011, EASF had a its personnel participate in the UN Training Needs Analysis Team for the now defunct TFG Military Forces and a team of 14 EASF officers deployed as part of the technical team that was to support AMISOM. 236 EASF has been also incorporated as a part of United Nation Political Office for Somalia (UNPOS) and United Nations Support Office for AMISOM (UNSOA) Military Technical Working Group Meeting in Somalia.²³⁷ The Force has also deployed in the past deployed a 231-strong police component to AMISOM, thus an important step in the development of the police dimension of the EASF²³⁸.

²³⁵ Kimathi L (2010). A Common Agenda of Post-Conflict Reconstruction among Eastern Africa's sub-Regional Organizations: Exploring the Challenges, Occasional paper series 1. No. 2, Karen: International Peace Support Training Centre.

²³⁶Bouhuys, J. (2011). The Eastern Africa Standby Force. Enhancing Peace and Security in the Eastern Africa Region [Online]. Available at: http://www.vovklict.nl/intercom/2011/2/27.pdf [Accessed: 31 August 2015]. P.28. Also see Robinson C (2014). The Eastern Africa Standby Force: History and Prospects, *International Peacekeeping*, pp. 1-17. ²³⁷ Ibid,p.28

²³⁸Aboagye, F. (2012). A Stitch in Time Would Have Saved Nine. Operationalizing the African Standby Force Institute for Security Studies Policy Brief no 34. Available at: http://www.issafrica.org/uploads/ASFPolBrief.pdf [Accessed: 12 January 2013]. P.2.

Besides, EASFCOM has signed MoU with the African Union Commission (AUC) to augment the capabilities of AMISOM, especially, in the areas of operational planning, logistics planning and operations, training, medical support and assistance.²³⁹ Based on the MoU, EASF has deployed 14 officers (including medical and logistics officers) to assist AMISOM, while it is also on the process to engage in different capability areas.²⁴⁰

There has been important progress in the operationalization of the EASF. The independent regional coordination mechanism EASFCOM was created to replace IGAD. This is was important in building confidence and ensuring a good working relationship especially among some member states who felt that some IGAD Member States were monopolizing the organization. Such murmurs would have affected greatly the operations of the EASF. It has also been proposed that EASBRICOM will be reconfigured as an Eastern African Peace and Security Secretariat (EAPSS) acting in the framework of Eastern Africa Peace and Security Mechanism (EAPSM)²⁴¹. These developments, as well as adoption and implementation of *The EASF Strategic Development Plan* by Member States demonstrates that despite political tensions, there is mutual understanding among Member States who have worked together to achieve most of the strategic objectives in the plan that were important towards achieving F.O.C.²⁴²

The EASF has demonstrated that it is a dynamic security management tool. Although not explicitly provided for and in view of its possible future activities in maritime security, the EASF

²³⁹ AU (2011), The AU Commission and the Eastern Africa Standby Force Coordination Mechanism Sign a Memorandum of Understanding to Deploy Personnel to AMISOM, Available at: http://www.au.int/en/content/au commission and eastern-africa-standby-force-coordination-mechanism-sign-memorandum-unders (Accessed on August 23, 2015).

Supra note 47

²⁴¹ Cilliers, J. and Pottgieter J. 2010. *The African Standby Force*. In: Engel, U. and Porto, J.G. eds. *Africa's New Peace and Security Architecture: Promoting Norms and Institutionalizing Solutions*, Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Group, p.135.

has established a Maritime Cell within the Military Planning Element.²⁴³ This is in light of the problem of piracy and the growing importance of maritime transport. The importance of the Lamu port and the LAPSSET project that is supposed to have a significant effect on the economies of countries in the Eastern region demands a force that is capable of countering threats to maritime security on the waters surrounding Eastern Africa.

The EASF has made relatively important strides in the development of police and civilian components in the force. Initially, the ASF and the sub-regional standby forces placed emphasis on the military components. But owing to the realities of modern peacekeeping operations that need to be multidimensional and multifunctional to address the multifaceted nature of conflicts, EASF has relatively tried to depict this requirement in its establishment. In 2011, there were 176 Civilian Personnel registered in the EASF Standby Roster and 635 police officers had also been trained. ²⁴⁴ In the EASF 2012 Exercise Njiwa there were over 100 police and civilian participants, working on the development of skills in capacity building for the rule of law institutions. ²⁴⁵ Beside the multidimensional aspect of the force, EASF, although to a limited extent, recognizes and is trying to implement the UNSC resolution 1325 on gender mainstreaming. In 2011, 0f the 635 trained police officers, 209 of them were female. ²⁴⁶

EASF has made notable achievement in training its staff individually and collectively both in the EASF structures and in member countries. These training programmes have culminated in successful conduct of various command post exercises and field training exercises. The EASF has even hosted the African Union Continental Command Post Continental exercise

-

²⁴³Ibid, p.28.

Bouhuys, J. (2011). *The Eastern Africa Standby Force. Enhancing Peace and Security in the Eastern Africa Region* [Online]. Available at: http://www.vovklict.nl/intercom/2011/2/27.pdf [Accessed: 31 August 2015].

²⁴⁵ Jobson, E. 2012. *Mock military operation in Ethiopia simulates all too real African Conflict*. The Guardian [Online] 23 November 2012. Available at: http://www.guardian.co.uk/global-development/2012/nov/23/mock-military-ethiopia-african-conflict [Accessed 27 July 2014].

²⁴⁶Bouhuys, J. (2011), op cit 55. p.28.

in Addis Ababa Ethiopia and also conducted the Logistics MAPEX exercise in the same place in 2010. These exercises enable the force to be well prepared for peace support operations in the EAR and beyond and also a help the force towards achieving the EASF strategic objectives. ²⁴⁷ Besides, The EASFCOM works with regional training institutions such as the International Peace Support Training Centre (IPSTC) with a view of having standardized doctrine and training that follows the UN requirement on doctrine and training for multidimensional forces, but in the case of the EASF, a training that also encompasses African realities. Three regional centres of excellence for peace keeping training in Kenya, Uganda and Rwanda offer common joint predeployment training to forces contributed from members contributed from member countries in view of having effective joint peace support operations. ²⁴⁸

In August 2015, EASF among the other Standby forces has led the way by creating a special day for Peace in the region in which stakeholders come together and learn about and analyze the performance of the EASF.

EASF can be said to have achieved Full Operational Capability (F.O.C) by 2015. The organization has achieved most of the F.O.C requirement such as operational organizations, among them an established PLANELM and Brigade Headquarters, a 5200 multidimensional, multifunctional and integrated standby forces in member counties, signing of an agreement on the establishment of EASF in 2014 by Member States which is more binding than the earlier arbitrary agreement based on a memorandum of understanding. EASF Member States have also signed framework documents and memorandum of understanding in 2014 on pledged forces. EASF constantly develops military, police and civilian component training and through numerous exercises. EASF has also aligned its policies and training on those of APSA. The

-

²⁴⁷ ibid

²⁴⁸ Cilliers J., and Malan, M., (2005). 'Progress with the African Standby Force', ISS Paper 98, Pretoria: the Institute for Security Studies. P.1-17.

pledged forces come are to come with their own equipment although External donors permanently express their support to the project. The Assembly of the EASF has also recognized the force's F.O.C. The EASF has thus met almost all the benchmarks required for the F.O.C of a standby force and is only awaiting for the authority to deploy its troops from the Assembly of heads of states and the deployment mandate from the AU PSC. The EASF Headquarters is very well structured and all Members States are equally represented.²⁴⁹

The above discussed contributions may make EASF the first and most advanced among the five sub-regional brigades of the ASF in terms of actively involving in the prevailing AU peace support operations. Eastern Africa Standby Force, though to a very lesser degree, also contributed to peace missions operating in Sudan. EASF provided pre-deployment training for United Nations-African Union Mission in Darfur (UNAMID) in collaboration with other trainers. AU Mission in Sudan (AMIS) and UNAMID also received command and control assistances from EASF. Besides, some trained women police officers were also deployed from EASF to United Nations Mission in South Sudan (UNMISS). 252

3.6 Comparative Analysis

Over the period of UNOSOM I deployment, the situation on the ground in Somalia had not changed substantially and, by the time of its departure, the problem of clan rivalries and violence had not abated. As a result, both the humanitarian crisis and the lawless, anarchic environment that is still characteristic of Somalia continued. UNOSOM I's failure to sustain any

²⁴⁹See APSA Document (2010). P.42

²⁵⁰ UNDP, (2011), "Peace Support Operation Training and Institutional Capacity Enhancement at the International Peace Support Training Centre- Phase II", Available at:

http://www.undp.org/content/dam/kenya/docs/Peace%20Building/UNDP-IPSTC_PROJECT_DOCUMENT_-FINAL-1-.pdf, (Accessed on August 23, 2015).

²⁵¹Ekengard A (2008). *The African Union Mission in Sudan (AMIS): Experiences and Lessons Learned*, Stockholm: FOI, Swedish Defense Research Agency.

²⁵² Supra note 52

degree of societal cohesiveness makes the situation in Somalia unique, while "Somalia's inability to preserve a central administration over twelve years puts it in a class by itself amongst the world's failed states". ²⁵³

UNOSOM II mission eventually fell into disarray due to the fractured nature of its deployment and the lack of a clear road map for nation building. In terms of planning, the mission gave little attention to the fundamental issues confronting Somalia like the nature, prospects and timing of reconciliation that would be needed to rebuild Somalia's institutions, how to build consensus and conduct DDR programmes UNOSOM II's leaders had no guidance other than their own judgment about any given situation they encountered and, in their frustration, commanders on the ground had to react as they saw best. This reaction increasingly involved "mission creep" and the adoption of a more offensive stance. With no end or solution in sight, the UNOSOM II mission withdrew from Mogadishu on the 3rd March 1995, after suffering significant casualties. The international intervention in Somalia between 1992 and 1995 was not successful.²⁵⁴

The UN intervention in Somalia shows what can happen when the public demands instant response to a situation that no immediate solutions. Given the nature of this civil conflict and the absence of any effective political infrastructure to counter it, there was never any basis for or hope for peace. The delivery of humanitarian aid in these circumstances would need a level of security that could only be achieved by enforcement. The warring factions in Somalia had no intention of backing down and, thus, external intervention to bring peace carried high risk and

²⁵³Menkhaus, Ken. 2003. State Collapse in Somalia: Second Thoughts. *Review of African Political Economy*. 30; 97: 405- 422

²⁵⁴Kennedy, Paul. (2006). *The Parliament of Man.* New York: Random House Publishing Group

low chances of success.²⁵⁵ Peace enforcement in such circumstances was never guaranteed although short-term success of the interim UNITAF force was noticeable.

In December 1995, the Rwandan government advised the UN that it did not agree to an extension of UNAMIR mandate beyond its expiration on 8 December on the basis that UNAMIR did not respond to Rwanda's priority needs. However the Government indicated that it would be receptive to a continued UN presence. UNAMIR mandate was extended for a final period until 8 Mar 1996 but it was also adjusted with a force level of 1,200.²⁵⁶ The peacekeeping activities of the UN in Rwanda were not adequately backed by peace building efforts hence the current fear of Rwanda's relapse into conflict. Rwanda lacked social and economic development, and an effective police and judicial system which could help stabilize the security situation. The situation in Rwanda is an indication that the UN and the AU need to go beyond the traditional peacekeeping activities in order to resolve the multifaceted conflicts in these countries.

In contrast, over the short span of its operations and the discussed milestones thereof, EASF promises to become a more effective security mechanism both in modern day peace support operations and military intervention in response to security threats, a factor lacking in both the UNOSOM and UNAMIR situations. Accordingly, EASF has undertaken a series of preparatory exercises to make the force ready and on standby for full deployment in the aforesaid period. In the first cycle of the exercises, EASF successfully conducted Command Post Exercise (CPX) in Nairobi, Kenya in 2008, a Field Training Exercise (FTX) in Djibouti in November 2009, and a Logistics Mapping Exercise (Logs MAPEX) in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, in November

Dejense ma

²⁵⁵Curtis, Willie. 1994. The Inevitable Slide into Coercive Peacekeeping: The US Role in the New World Order. *Defense Analysis*. 10; 3: 305-321

²⁵⁶ Supra note 34

2010.²⁵⁷ The first historical joint Field Training Exercise, consisting of about 1,500 troops, police and civilian personnel from 10 countries was also conducted in Djibouti to broaden the peacekeeping capacity of the region and to evaluate the level of preparedness and interoperability of the force.²⁵⁸

This exercise shows that EASF is in a good position of assembling all the regional standby forces for deployment when need arises. By successfully completing these exercises in the first cycle, EASF attained the Initial Operational Capability (IOC). In the second cycle of the exercises, EASF conducted a second CPX in Khartoum, Sudan, in November 2011. ²⁵⁹ Besides, successful Field Training Exercise known as Mashariki Salam 2013 (FTX13) was held in Jinja, Uganda, from May 2013 to train and examine the level of readiness of the trained forces for Full Operational Capability (FOC) based on the AU training doctrine and objectives. From the above discussion one can appreciate the effort of the EASF across the short span of its active existence towards achieving its full operation capability, already declared by the force in November 2014.

3.7 Conclusion

From the foregoing findings, it can be deduced that the EASF, as a sub-regional peace and security architecture is aimed at undertaking the functions of maintaining peace and security in Eastern Africa in particular and, the African continent in general. Due to a multiplicity of interrelated challenges and dynamics, EASF has carried out only a few supportive roles in the UN and AU peace support operations in the region, rather than deploying its own authorized peace-keeping force. This is attributed to the fact that EASF is under the continental force ASF

²⁵⁷ Supra note 47

²⁵⁸ Supra note 52

²⁵⁹Kagwanja P. (2013). Enhancing Capacity for Regional Peace and Security through Peace Operations Training, *Issue briefs series, issue No. 5, third quarter*, Karen: International Peace Support Training Centre (IPSTC).

and therefore draws its mandate in terms of operational activities from the AU. EASF thus has to depend on the ad hoc mechanism of deployment as authorized by the AU PSC and the UN. This is in spite of its ambitious objective of maintaining regional peace and security in a region that indeed requires such measures urgently. Notwithstanding its minimal role in terms of maintaining peace and security in the region, the current trends and activities of EASF show that the organization has good future prospect to make positive contributions to the maintenance of peace and security in the region.

CHAPTER FOUR

FACTORS THAT CONSTRAIN THE OPTIMAL PERFORMANCE OF THE EASTERN AFRICA STANDBY FORCE

4.1 Introduction

The road to the realization of a functioning EASF has not been easy since its inception in 2004. Some of the regional standby forces like the one for the NASBRIG is still far away from achieving the F.O.C. Some of the regional standby forces have not yet to achieve their planning element and operational targets towards attaining either the initial operational capability (I.O.C) and the F.O.C.

Just like other regional mechanisms, EASF, which is not anchored on any regional economic community, has gone through, similar challenges like the other four standby forces but because of the determination of member countries and their mutual understanding, the Force has managed to meet some of the targets towards attaining its F.O.C. Today the force has a standby multidimensional, multifunctional and integrated standby force, a well-established EASFCOM that coordinates the activities of the force and lately an agreement on the establishment of the EASF signed in 2014 by member states. This phenomenon has led to the general view that although the EASF troops have not been deployed in peace support operations, the force is comparatively doing well compared to the other standby forces in terms of attaining the F.O.C by December 2015.

Although the EASF seems to be efficient and the most ready, certain factors that are interrelated have hindered its institutional development. This chapter will briefly discuss these

factors that constrain the operations of the EASF as observed also by other scholars in the field of peace and security.

4.2 Factors that constrain the optimal performance of the Eastern Africa Standby

Some factors that hamper the EASF from functioning optimally are discussed in the following part of this chapter.

4.2.1 Lack of Funding

Force

It is apparent that for an organization to successfully conduct a Peace Support Operation (PSO) a huge amount of funding is required. Funds are important in the day to day operations, deployments, training, and exercises and even for observer missions. On the contrary, although the sub-regional forces have the ambition of deploying troops in the field, they lack the finances to facilitate these processes. Their logistical capability is also alarming and this is attributed to the scarcity of finances. At the continental level, the AU which has the supreme authority over the standby forces lacks finances to discharge its duties effectively, and has had to rely on donors and partners to discharge its duties. Member countries have not been regularly contributing to the AU peace fund. Similarly, back at the sub regional level, EASF faces similar challenges concerning funding. Member states are supposed to carry out their obligations among them, financing the EASF, but few have regularly done so either because of low financial capacity or because of their national commitment/ priorities. Hull et al adds that this problem is even made worse by cases of mismanagement since the establishment of the EASF.²⁶⁰ Just like in the AU,

²⁶⁰ Hull et al (2011). "Patchwork for Peace: Capabilities for Peace and Security in Eastern Africa", Stockholm: FOI, Swedish Defence Research Agency. P, 15.

EASF which is supposed to be supported by member state has to work with partners or donors to realize its objectives. Although the partner States are just doing what is expected of the international community in supporting CPMR efforts to ensure international peace and security, the force is likely to be in at a vulnerable position if the source of these finances is cut off or is reduced.

4.2.2 Weak Legal Framework and Lack of Commitment

For over ten years, EASF has had a relatively weak legal basis operating under the Policy Framework for the Establishment of EASBRIG (adopted in 2004) and Memorandum of Understanding on the Establishment of the Eastern Africa Standby Brigade (signed in 2005) which are not binding. It is only in December 2014 that an agreement on the establishment of the EASF was signed by ten participating states. ²⁶¹ Although an agreement has been put in place to replace the arbitrary M.o.U that existed before, there still exist several grey areas in the area of pledged forces by member states. There is still no binding arrangement between Members States for force deployment although every year Members States renew their M.o.Us on pledged forces. EASF operations largely depend on the mutual understanding of states and on the changing political will of states involved. Commitment and contributions of member states towards the activities of the force will depend on the threat perception of the situation and interests of individual nations in the activities of the regional force. ²⁶²

In addition, even though EASF personnel get standardized training from the regional centres of excellence, their loyalty to the EASF and deployment would be only valid if the

²⁶¹ Speech of EASFCOM Head of Political Affairs during the EASF Day on 21 September 2015, at Serena Hotel Nairobi.

²⁶² Robinson, C. (2014). "The Eastern Africa Standby Force: History and Prospects", *International Peacekeeping*, pp. 1-17

concerned states do not object their deployment. This raises concern over the question of divided loyalty of officers towards the force and towards their countries. This is a serious issue especially if it touches on the integrity of senior officers in the force who formulate and implement principles. Loyalty to the force may also be questioned among member states, especially when deployment in a certain country or area is of pertinent interest to the concerned states, or where intervention is to be carried out in a 'friendly' State against the wish of the sitting government.

4.2.3 Poor Structures and Organization

The core functions of the PLANELMs are planning, preparation and training, including the verification of brigade headquarters and standby elements. This is considered a full time requirement, implying that the PLANELMS should be staffed on a permanent basis and where possible, the regional PLANELMs should be co-located with the regional brigade headquarters for ease of command, control and communications. The EASF has its PLANELM located in Kenya while its brigade headquarters are located in Addis Ababa. This renders the coordination of these structures difficult and also causes logistical and communication constraints especially for an organization like EASF, which just like the others in the region is constrained in terms of resources.

Arrangements like these may satisfy the countries concerned but they may also jeopardize the effective function of the force. Kenya may be happy to host the PLANELM, and Ethiopia, the EASBRIG HQ, but operationally, these actions constrain the already under sourced organization.

Decision-making especially at the policy and operational level poses a big challenge to the EASF organization. Although EASF operates in a theatre where there is a high presence of international peacekeeping activities attributed to the long and devastating conflicts, it lacks the decision- making capability to deploy its troops. The structures and institutions upon which EASF is created curtail its sphere of operation and only allow it to be deployed on AD HOC basis by the AU.

4.2.4 Conflicts in the Eastern Africa

The EAR region is characterized by both interstate and intrastate conflicts and this largely affects the development of a strong EASF. Internal conflicts continue to be witnessed in Sudan's Darfur area, Somalia and in other countries in the region. Hostilities exist between Eritrea and Ethiopia on one hand and Eritrea and Djibouti on the other hand. Conflicts between Eritrea and Ethiopia have even resulted into Eritrea withdrawing its active participation from the EASF. This goes against the principle of inclusivity of all member states for an effective collective security arrangement thus undermining the progress of the EASF. The institutional development of EASF is constrained by conflicts in two dimensions. Internal conflicts within member countries of the EASF affect EASF development as these countries are largely preoccupied with internal insurgencies and devote their best resources first to internal demands rather than to a world order like the EASF with a planned capability of ensuring regional security. In essence, for such states in the EASF regional security duties are only secondary to their national security. 263 This phenomena results to reduced resources to the EASF and it is a no wonder that most of the times member states have been unable to meet their financial obligations or have only pledged limited number of personnel and equipment, probably maintaining a substantial amount of resources to counter internal insurgencies.

²⁶³ Hull C, Skeppstrom and E, Sorenson K (2011). "Patchwork for Peace: Capabilities for Peace and Security in Eastern Africa", Stockholm: FOI, Swedish Defence Research Agency. P.20.

In addition, external conflicts in the region like the one in Somalia and Sudan have equally reduced the resources that would have been used on improving on the institutional and capacity development of the EASF. These conflicts have necessitated the deployment of the UN and AU peacekeeping missions in which countries of the EASF participate. Such resources would have been used in strengthening this regional force.²⁶⁴

Tension between countries in the EASF because of among other issues, support for proxy wars by member countries and their international relations, has resulted to mistrust among Member States. This has greatly affected the collaborative efforts required to nurture this new security organization.²⁶⁵

4.2.5 Lack of Resources

The mission scenarios provided in the ASF policy framework provides that missions deployed for Scenarios 1 - 3 should be self-sustainable for up to 30 days, while Scenarios 4 - 6 missions and operations should deploy with up to 90 days self-sustainability, before the AU or the UN takes over the responsibility for sustaining the missions or, if lacking that capacity, the readiness and ability of the AU to start reimbursing TCCs so that these countries can sustain their contingents. Deployment of contingents in 14 days will require regular joint field exercises with all units, a standing fully staffed Brigade HQ. Although EASF is said to be ready for such operations, in real terms, most countries in the EASF that are expected to deploy and contribute resources to the force Log Base, have no adequate resources to sustain these missions within

²⁶⁴ Mumma-Martinon CA (2013). "Efforts towards Conflict Prevention in the Eastern African Region: The Role of Regional Economic Communities and Regional Mechanisms", *Occasional paper, series 1, No. 1.* Karen: International Peace Support Training Centre (IPSTC). p. 19.

²⁶⁵ Bayeh, E (2014). 'The Eastern Africa Standby Force: Roles, Challenges and Prospects'. *International Journal of political Science and Development*. P.4.

these ambitious timelines. Such timelines could probably only be met by AU member states with relatively well endowed military establishments like South Africa and Nigeria. 266

In addition the force is still limited in terms of airlift capabilities. The force also has a limited number of experts working for it.

Lack of resources creates a problem of dependence on external support. Such measures sometimes undermine local ownership of the Force and as a result question the role of the ASF as an 'African solution to African problems'. The EASF is supported in various ways by a number of countries and organizations associated with it in the forum of 'Friends of EASF' established in 2007. Netherlands has played a very instrumental role towards achieving one of the objectives in the EASF strategic development Plan by helping EASF develop a command and control Communication Information System (C2 CIS).²⁶⁷

4.2.6 Duplication of Regional Organizations and Overlapping Membership

EASF encompasses certain SROs some of them having been formed way back before the establishment of the EASF. These are EAC and IGAD. It is important to appreciate the commitment that member states have to these organizations, their loyalty to these organizations and the impact thereof, positive or negative, depending on the collaboration or lack of it among the SROs. Unfortunately for the EASF, even with the its emergency as a sub-regional security architecture, there have been minimal collaboration among these organizations in the area of security, as evidenced by the actions of the old institutions like IGAD and EAC which continue to take their own actions in the same domain of peace and security. IGAD for instance wanted to send its own force IGASOM, in Somalia. All these organizations require donor assistance as they

²⁶⁶Aliyu, P.33.

²⁶⁷ See Bouhuys (2011). P.29.

pursue their objectives in the same field of peace and security thus creating unnecessary competition for donor support. Obviously, the existence of these multiple organizations with overlapping mandates or objectives affects the development of the EASF.

Overlapping membership by Member States creates the problem of commitment and loyalties thus complicating the support of member states for EASF. Member States usually lean towards organizations that best meet their expectations or interests. Tanzania, which is geographically located in the EAC region and is founder Member of the EAC, preferred to join the SSF. Tanzania seems to be also more active in SADC than it is in EAC. On the other hand, Kenya and Uganda are actively involved in the EAC probably as they could be engaged in the EASF. But again, unlike the other standby forces which enjoy the participation of almost all member states because of the existence of one strong REC upon which they are anchored, EASF is greatly affected in terms of commitment by member states as well as competition for external donors with other RECs.

Greater collaboration among member states and among the security and development organizations is important so that members take advantage of the synergies that exist among the different organization and reduce duplication of resource and divided commitment. More collaborative efforts in this area have got to be done to create synergies and reduce competition and duplication of resources in a region that already has constrained resources.

4.2.7 The Ambivalence of some States and Divided Loyalty

Out of fourteen (14) members of the Eastern Region, only 10 States take an active part in the EASF. These are: Burundi, Comoros, Djibouti, Ethiopia, Kenya, Rwanda, Seychelles, Somalia, Sudan and Uganda. Eritrea has suspended its engagement in the process due to hostile

relations with some of the other countries, most notably Ethiopia and recently Djibouti. At the same time Tanzania, which is geographically in East Africa and is a founder member of the East Africa community, has chosen to work with the SADC countries in the SADC Standby Force (SSF). Madagascar and Mauritius too, have since joined the SSF from the EASF.

Given that the standby forces depend on member states for financial, equipment and personnel, the withdrawal of these countries and or their lack of participation in the force directly affected the development of EASF, more so in terms of capacity building.

4.2.8 Lack of a Lead Nation and Hegemonic Competition

In most situations, security matters are sensitive and therefore call for prompt decisions or actions. In regional security architectures, the significance of a lead nation cannot be underestimated. EASF lacks a clear hegemonic power unlike the case of ECOWAS Standby Force and the SADC Standby Force where Nigeria and South Africa are hegemonies, respectively. ASF/EASF deployment in scenario six which calls for deployment within fourteen days would not be easily realized by sub-regional organizations of the ASF because of the limitations of mandates, and logistics. Only a lead nation would help as happened with ECOMOG intervention force in Liberia led by Nigeria

In EASF, the two relatively powerful states, namely Ethiopia and Kenya, are in a state of constant competition to secure their respective supremacy in the region. The competition between the two countries was manifested with the onset of EASF creation. Ethiopia's perceived dominance in IGAD led to a number of States among them Kenya resisting the coordination of EASF affairs under IGAD. Consequently EASBRICOM, and later EASFCOM, was established and is based in Nairobi. Kenya considers EASFCOM as the supreme organ of all other structures

of EASF, while Ethiopia regards them as equal.²⁶⁸ Therefore, even though the EASFCOM was established as a solution, the two countries' rivalry still continues to affect the smooth running of EASF. The competition between the two countries for supremacy and influence in the region is also best manifested in the allocation of EASF structures. Internal rivalry between the two countries to assume regional leadership leads to separate allocation of elements of EASF in Ethiopia and Kenya.²⁶⁹ The EASFCOM and the Planning Element (PLANELM) are located in Kenya, while the EASF Headquarters and Logistic Base (LOGBASE) are co-located in Ethiopia. Having these elements separated, more so the PLANELEM and the structures of the EASF Brigade Headquarters has affected the coordination of the EASF activities and may further delay the rapid deployment of EASF (Fisher, *et al.*, 2010). For effective coordination, if not all elements of the EASF, then the PLANELEM and the Brigade Headquarters should be in one place for more flexibility and effectiveness.

4.2.9 Cultural Diversity and Lack of Interoperability

Under the authority of the AU PSC and the AU Assembly, EASBRIG HQS are expected to be deploy, when need arises, a multidimensional, multifunctional and well integrated standby force that is to be assembled from member states. For force efficiency and effectiveness, standardized training and doctrine have been carried out by the EASF through the regional centers of excellence. Joint operation courses and exercises have also been carried out to prepare the troops.

Effective operation of combined forces in the PSOs is very crucial. Yet cultural differences among the peoples of Eastern Africa have significant impact on the process of

²⁶⁸Mandrup T (2012), 'State Fragility and Its Regional Implications for Peace and Stability: The Case of the Greater Horn of Africa', *ISA Conference*, San Diego, 28th March. P.10.

²⁶⁹ Bayeh, E (2014). Op cit 3. P.4.

establishing united forces from states of the region and beyond. These cultural differences are defined by various ethnicities, culture and values, religion and the Anglophone-Francophone divide. It is contended that such diverse cultures affect the progress of EASF.²⁷⁰

In operational scenarios, commanders may experience difficulties in communicating with their troops if they don't share common values and cultures. Since EASF aims at deploying troops from different countries, cultural background of the different personnel of the troop contributing countries have to be integrated in the training programmes, otherwise interoperability of the force may be jeopardized.

4.3 Conclusion

Despite the above discussed challenges, EASF countries have made accomplishments towards operationalizing the security mechanism, most notably the establishment of the independent coordination mechanism, the deployment of small number of personnel in Somalia and cooperation with the UN in this country, the establishment of a Maritime Cell, successfully conducted exercises, as well as slow but steady development of civilian and police components. By troops and heads of armed forces from different states exercising together, meeting and exchanging views and even sensitive information, the EASF structure provides a unique setting which has the potential to contribute to security and trust building between member countries.

-

²⁷⁰ Ibid, p.4

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Summary of the Study

After the Cold war period, new sets of conflict situations came up in the African continent. The Organization of African Union had been established to protect the sovereignty of new independent states. This was to be observed by members of the organization based on the Principle of Sovereignty and Non-interference so that Member States do not interfere with the internal affairs of sovereign States. Security measures were geared towards countering interstate wars. But with the end of the Cold War, new forms of security concerns came up: most wars and conflicts were internal, either insurgencies against the government in place, the fight for control and exploitation of mineral resources and ethno-political wars like in Rwanda and Somalia. This new security concerns came along with other dynamics like regionalization of conflicts through among other factors, globalization and porosity of borders that aided in transnationalizing conflicts.

The African continent was losing so many lives because of these wars and other threats to humanity like hunger and diseases. The Rwanda genocide and the new security concerns like human and environmental security, led the African leadership into reassessing the continent's security situation.

The new African Union body that was formed to replace the OAU had a stronger mandate than the previous one with the possibility of intervening in countries where there were grave violations of human rights. The body adopted the principle of responsibility to protect to avoid such incidences as the Rwanda genocide. The continental body also took into concern the

fact that conflicts had a spillover effect in the region, and thus the need for concerted efforts among member states at the regional level and at sub regional level through Regional Economic Communities and Regional Mechanisms to manage these conflicts.

In order to harmonize the Continent's numerous security initiatives and to ensure that the continent's limited resources are applied efficiently and effectively, the AU, through its larger framework of the African Union Peace and Security Architecture (APSA) established the concept of an African Standby Force (ASF) as an example of a collective security initiative in the continent. The five regionally based multinational brigades/forces of the ASF are based on the five economic regions (North, West, Central, South and East), and were to operate as a multinational integrated rapid reaction peace support operation under strict guidelines. The EASF is the ASF force for Eastern Africa with the vision of contributing to regional and continental peace and stability, through a fully operational and multidimensional joint and integrated Force ready for deployment by 2015

The study sought to analyze the place of the EASF in the Eastern Africa Security Architecture as a regional collective security arrangement. The operation of the EASF indeed depends among other factors on the structure, policies and design of the EASF and on the harmonization of policies and the political will of the Member States of the various RECS or groupings of States within the sub-region. Factors that constrain the operation of EASF have been identified by reading books, journals and through primary data and the finding and recommendation of this study are presented herein.

5.2 Findings

5.2.1 Deployment Politics

EASF has been able to contribute to the development of multidimensional and multifunctional forces for modern day peace support operations. However, because such forces are limited by the mandates of both the AU and the UN, EASF has not been deployed anywhere in an autonomous capacity. EASF has only been deployed for technical duties in PSO operations in Somalia. From the discussion also, certain mission scenarios like the ones requiring deployment within 14 days can be attained effectively by hegemons that have military capabilities. In the 2012 crisis in Mali the ECOWAS Standby Force, which is under the AU did not intervene as opposed to the ECOMOG intervention force in Liberia, which had earlier intervened under the leadership of Nigeria.

Another aspect to note is that despite EASF being the security architecture in the region, RECs such as the EAC and IGAD still enjoy unwavering loyalties from the member states. Their commitment to EASF activities largely depends on their interests and their threat perception. The availability of troops from these countries will depend on how much they will be willing to contribute. This is further complicated by the lack of a binding legal basis on force generation.

5.2.2 The EASF Planning Scenarios

None of the six EASF mission scenarios corresponds to the new form of warfare that is asymmetrical in nature. The conflict in Somalia and Mali is typical of this new security threats. But AU was not able to deploy neither EASF in Somalia nor SSF in Mali. Besides, the six

mission scenarios that were based on traditional forms of responding to conflicts ranging from observer missions to rapid intervention in response to grave circumstances like genocide may not cater for eventualities like humanitarian disasters, or earthquakes which indeed require the rapid capability that EASF aspires to attain in the regional security arrangement.

5.2.3 The Relationship between the AU, EASF, and REC/RMs and Institutional Flexibility

While the AU is the principal body that gives policies and guidelines that EASF and other standby forces follow in establishing these sub regional forces, EASF depends on the Member States for funding and force generation and preparation. The Member States were participating in their respective RECs or RMs and most of them are still very loyal to these RECs than even the Standby Forces. The regional organizations are therefore the implementing organs of the AU policies. There needs to be more collaborative relationship between the AU and the RECs more so for the EASF which operates in an environment where countries have overlapping membership, to realize its goals. This is important in strengthening the force which relies on the goodwill of RECs and their member countries.

5.2.4 Strengthening Multi-Dimensionality

EASF has forces that are Multi-dimensional. This is an important aspect in a modern peacekeeping force which should respond to the multifaceted nature of conflicts. EASF has got both civilian, military and police components in its two forms of its structures in Nairobi, and at different hierarchical levels. The force has also tried to balance its staff in terms of gender.

5.2.4 Joint Planning

EASF has a working PLANEL based in Karen Nairobi. Joint Planning is headed by a joint Chief of Staff under whom there are three heads representing the three components of the force: the military, the civilian and the police. EASF has got representatives of partner states who are experts in given fields to offer technical advice. EASF has provided technical services in planning PSO operations in Somalia and has also sent staff in UN Office in Somalia as military advisers.

The most recent planning initiatives between the AU and the UN on Somalia or the joint planning between ECOWAS and the AU on Mali seems to bear fruits in tackling non-conventional warfare. If better results are to be achieved, the planning capacities which are available at the EASF and the RECs will have to be reinforced, and Member States and partners will have to invest more in strengthening the role of the strategic headquarters in Addis Ababa and the planning elements in the regions.

5.2.5 Spelling Out Command and Control

EASF lacks authority over its forces and cannot therefore deploy. Effective command and control of operations underpins both success and credibility, yet this is one of the areas in which room for improvement exists. More can be done to strengthen the role of the headquarters in providing strategic guidance and support, and the mission command and control structures in relation to the conduct of operations, to ensure that operations are managed effectively

5.2.6 Funding and Logistics

EASF, just like the AU lacks funds for its projects and has to depend on the contribution of member states some of whom rarely meet their obligation. For the EASF to effectively implement its activities, finance and logistics are very important. Partnership with donor States is encouraged in modern peacekeeping, but overdependence on these external partners is dangerous.

5.3 Recommendations

Deployment scenarios of EASF need to be re-examined to reflect the new security dynamics like terrorism, organized crime and humanitarian disasters and also establish the type of capabilities that are required to deal with such threats

More collaborative efforts between the EASF and regional mechanism should be fostered to avoid duplication of activities and create synergy among the organizations in the area of security. There is need to have stronger institutional structures that would help the organizations carry out its functions effectively. In addition, EASF should come up together with the RECs on a way to effectively ensure that EASF has adequate funds to meet its budgeted activities.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Books:

- Adler E and Barnett, M.J (eds). 'Security Communities.' Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ayoob, M. (1995). *The Third World Security Predicament*. Boulder, CO: Lynne- Rienner Publishers.
- Bailes and Cottey. 'A Regional security cooperation in the early 21st century.'
- Baldwin, D.A (1997), 'The Concept of Security', Review Of International Studies' Vol. 23, No. 1: Pp. 5-26.
- Bellamy I., "Towards A Theory of International Security," Political Studies, Vol.29, No.1, (1981), P.102
- Bellamy, A J. & Williams, P D. (2010). Understanding Peacekeeping (2nd Edition). Cambridge: Polity Press
- Boyer, M. and Rourke, J. (2003). *International Politics on the World Stage*. (5th ed.). New York: McGraw Hill. Pp.1-289.
- Buzan B., (1991). *People, States and Fear: An Agenda for International Security Studies in the Post-Cold War Era*, 2nd Ed. Boulder: Lynne Rienner,
- Buzan, B and Waever O. (2003). *Regions and Powers: The structure of international power*.

 Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Buzan, B, Waever O and De Wilde J. (1998). *Security; A New Framework for Analysis*. Boulder, CO: Lynne-Rienner Publishers.

- Caldwell, D and Robert E. Williams Jr. (2006). *Seeking Security in an insecure World*. Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Chaturvedi, A. K. (2006) "Dictionary of Political Science". New Delhi: Academic India Publishers. Pp. 1-342.
- Chipman J. (1992). 'The Future of Strategic Studies: Beyond Grand Strategy,' Survival, 43:1, Pp. 109-131.
- Claude Jr., I. L. (1971). 'Swords into plowshares. The problems and progress of international organization'. 4th ed. New York: Random House.
- Cottey, A. and Forster, A., Reshaping Defence Diplomacy: New Roles for Military Cooperation and Assistance, Adelphi Paper no. 365 (Oxford University Press: Oxford, 2004).
- Dalby, S. (1992). "Security, Modernity Ecology: The Dilemmas of Post-Cold War Security Discourse." *Alternatives 17*, Pp. 95-134.
- Debiel T and Wulf H, "Conflict Early Warning and Response Mechanisms: Tools for Enhancing the Effectiveness of Regional organizations? A Comparative study of the AU, ECOWAS, IGAD, ASEAN/ARF and PIF', Crisis State Research Paper Series No,2, Working Paper no.49, May 2009.
- Deutsch K et al., (1957). *Political Community and the North Atlantic Area. Princeton:* Princeton University Press.
- Deutsch, K. W. et al., (1969), Political Community and the North Atlantic Area: International Organization in the Light of Historical Experience (Greenwood Press: New York, N.Y.
- Dyke, V. N. (1957) "International Politics". New York: Meredith Corporation
- Duchacek, I.D.: Nations and Men; International Politics Today, Pp.1-390.

- Farah I. 'African Regional Security Arrangements: Ecowas and Lessons for IGAD', in Mwagiru M. (ed.) *Human Security: Setting the Agenda for the Horn of Africa*.
- Francis, D J.(2006) 'Uniting Africa: Building Regional Peace and Security Systems', Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Herz, J (1950). 'Idealist internationalism and The Security Dilemma.' World Politics 2, Pp.157-180.
- Hurell, A. 'Regionalism in Theoretical Perspective,' In Fawcett L and Hurell A (Eds.),
 Regionalism in World Politics: Regional Organisations and International Order, (Oxford:
 Oxford University Press, 1995).
- Huysmans, J. (1995). 'Migrants as a Security Problem: Dangers of 'Securitizing' Societal Issues.' in Miles R, and Thranhardt D. (eds.). *Migration and European Integration: The Dynamics of Inclusion and Exclusion*. London; Pinter.
- Jacobsen, K L and Nordby, J R. (2012) 'East Africa: Regional Security Organisations and Dynamics'. *Danish Institute for International Studies*. Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Juma, M. K. 2007. 'The Role of the Inter-Governmental Authority on Development in Preventing and Combating Terrorism', in Andre Le Sage (ed.), *African Cooperation*.

 *Assessing Regional and Sub-regional Initiatives. Dulles: Potomac Books
- Katzenstein, P J. (1996). The Culture of National Security: Norms and Identity in World Politics.

 New York: Columbia University Press.
- Morgenthau H, J. (1978). 'Politics Among Nations: The Struggle for Power and Peace.' 5th Ed.

 New York: Knopf.
- Mwagiru, M., (2004) 'African Regional Security in the Age of Globalization.' Nairobi: Heinrich Boll Foundation.

- Nye, J. S. and Keohane, R. O. (2001) *Power and Interdependence*, 3rd edition. Longman: New York.
- Russett, B. M., *International Regions and the International System* (Rand MacNally: Chicago, Ill., 1967)
- Sheehan M (2005). *International Security: An Analytical Survey*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner.
- Standley, H. (1991). *UN System of Collective Security and Humanitarian Intervention*. Colorado: Westview Press. Pp. 1-135.
- Stivachtis, I. (2001). Co-operative Security and Non-Offensive Defense in the Zone of War.

 Peter Lang Publishers. P.1-210.
- Tavares R. (2009). 'Regional Security: The Capacity of International Organizations.' Routledge, New York.
- Tickner, J, A. (1995). 'Revisioning Security.' In Booth K and Smith S (eds.). *International Relations Theory Today*. Cambridge: Polity Press, Pp. 175-197.
- Tilly C, (1992). 'Coercion, Capital and European States, AD 990-1992', Cambridge: Blackwell Pub.
- Vogt M A, and Aminu LS, (1996). Peacekeeping as a Security Strategy in Africa: Chad and Liberia as Case Studies (Enugu: Forth Dimension Publishing Co Ltd).
- Vogt M. (1998) 'Regional Security Arrangements and security in Africa' Senior Advocate Africa

 Programme, International Peace Academy, New York.
- Wendt, A., (1992). 'Anarchy is What States Make of It: The Social Construction of Power Politics.' International Organization .46, Pp.391- 425.
- Zartman W I, and Deng FM, (2005). *Conflict Resolution in Africa*, Washington DC: The Brookings Institute.

Journals:

- Aboagye, F. (2012). A Stitch in Time Would Have Saved Nine. Operationalizing the African Standby Force. Institute for Security Studies Policy Brief no 34. Available at:http://www.issafrica.org/uploads/ASFPolBrief.pdf [Accessed: 12 January 2013].
- Aboagye, F. (1999). ECOMOG A Sub-Regional Experience in Conflict Resolution, Management and Peacekeeping in Liberia, (Accra, Sedco)
- Adisa, J. (2003). 'The Conflict of Stranger, the Impact of Rwandan Refugees on Neighboring Countries', African Book Builders Ltd.
- Ahmed, I. & Green, R. (2011). 'The Heritage of War and State Collapse in Somalia and Somaliland: Local Level Effects, External Interventions and Reconstruction'. *Third World Quarterly*. 20; 1: 113-127
- Alamin M. M and Mazrui A. A (2002) "The Tensions of East African Integration: Failed Pan-Africanism, Emerging Pax Africana?" Paper presented at the International Peace

 Academy/ Makerere University/Africa Peace Forum seminar in Entebbe, Uganda, 16-18

 December 2002.
- Aliyu B. (2008).Regional Dimensions of Peace Support Operations in the 21st century: A Case Study of the African Standby Force Concept.
- Allard, K. (2008). Somalia Operations: Lessons Learned. Washington D.C.: Defence University Press.
- Alusala N (2004). "African Standby Force: East Africa Moves On", *African Security Review*, vol. 13(2), pp. 113-121.

- Anyidoho, C. (2004). Guns Over Kigali, "A Review Article on the Rwandan Genocide" West Africa Magazine.
- Ayoob, Mohammed. (2011). 'Humanitarian Intervention and State Sovereignty'. *The International Journal of Human Rights*. 6; 1: 81-102
- Bachmann, O. (2011). 'The African Standby Force: External Support to an 'African Solution to African Problems.' Institute of Development Studies Research Report. Available at: http://www.ids.ac.uk/files/dmfile/Rr67web.pdf [Accessed: 20 August 2015].
- Bah S,A (2010) 'The Evolution of Regional and Sub regional Collective Security Mechanisms in Post- Cold War Africa' in (eds.) Jones, B, Forman S and Gowan, R. *Cooperating for Peace and Security and Security : Evolving institutions and Arrangements in a context of changing U.S security Policy.* New York, Pp. 1-301.
- Bayeh E (2014). The Eastern Africa Standby Force: Roles, Challenges and Prospects. Inter. J. Polit. Sci. Develop. 2(9): Pp. 197-204.
- Berman, E. & Sams, K. (2000). *Peacekeeping in Africa: Capabilities and Culpabilities*. (United Nations Institute for Disarmament Research, Geneva,) Pp.1- 388.
- Bouhuys, J., (2011), "The Eastern Africa Standby Force: Enhancing Peace and Security in the Eastern Africa Region", *Intercom*, No.2, p.27-31.
- Brainin, E.et al. (2010). Perceived combat readiness as collective efficacy: individual- and group-level analysis. *Military Psychology*, 12(2): Pp.105-119.
- C.A. Mumma-Martinon. (2010). Efforts towards Conflict Prevention in the Eastern African Region: *The Role of Regional Economic Communities and Regional Mechanisms*.

 International Peace Support Training Centre, Karen.

- Cassanelli, LV. (2012). 'A Historian's View of the Prospects for Somali Reconstruction' .in

 What are Somalia's Development Perspectives? Science Between Resignation and Hope?

 (Janzen, Jorge eds.). Berlin: Das ArabischeBuch
- Chukunov, V.M. (2008). Military Security Consciousness and the Mechanism of its Moulding in the RF armed forces'. *Military Thought*, 9(2): 67-74.
- Church, W and Jowell, M "Conflict Circuit Breakers in the Great Lakes Region of Africa, the IC GLR", *African Security Review*, 16 (1), 2007.
- Cilliers, J. 2008. 'The African Standby Force, An update on progress.' ISS Paper 160. Pretoria: Institute for Security Studies.
- Cilliers, J. and Pottgieter J. (2010). 'The African Standby Force.' in Engel, U. and Porto, J.G. (eds.) Africa's New Peace and Security Architecture: Promoting Norms and Institutionalizing Solutions, Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Group, P. 111-141. Civil War', Harvard International Review, 26 (1).
- Coleman, K.P. (2011). 'Innovations in African Solutions to African Problems: The Evolving Practice of Regional Peacekeeping in Sub-Saharan Africa'. *The Journal of Modern African Studies*. 49; 4: 517-545
- Curtis, W. (1994). 'The Inevitable Slide into Coercive Peacekeeping: The US Role in the New World Order.' *Defense Analysis*. 10; 3: 305-321
- Daniels, CL. (2012). 'Somali Piracy and Terrorism in the Horn of Africa'. Labham, Maryland: Scarecrow Press.
- De Coning, C. (2004) 'Refining the African Standby Force Concept'. *Conflict Trends*: 2. pp 20 26.

- De Waal, A. (2001). 'The Politics of Destabilization in the Horn, 1989-2001' in De Waal, Alex (ed.) (2004) *Islamism and its Enemies in the Horn of Africa*, London. Hurst & Company.
- Dersso S, A "The Role and Place of the African Standby Force within the African Peace and Security Architecture" ISS Paper 209. January 2010. Pp.6-7
- Dickson, Y. (2004). 'Conflict Resolution in Africa: Challenges for the 21st Century.' *National War College* 8, *Abuja*. Dream' Pp.1-31.
- Ebegbulem J C. (2012). The Failure of Collective Security in the Post World Wars I and II.

 International System. International Journal of Peace and Conflict Studies (Ijpcs), Vol. 1,
 No.1. Pp.1-10.
- Ekengard A. (2008). 'The African Union Mission in Sudan (AMIS): Experiences and Lessons Learned'. Stockholm: FOI, Swedish Defense Research Agency.
- Elizabeth, M. (2012). COMESA and the Programme on Peace and Security, National Defense College, 2012, p.84
- Fanta. 'Regionalising Peace and Security in Eastern Africa: Credible Hope or Elusive Dream.' *UNU CRIS* .p. 1-12.
- Fisher L.M. et. al. 2010. African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA): 2010 Assessment Study.
- Fisher, *et al.*, (2010), African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA): 2010 assessment study, Available at: http://www.securitycouncilreport.org/atf/cf/%7B65BFCF9B-6D27 4E9C8CD3CF6E4FF96FF9%7D/RO%20African%20Peace%20and%20Security%20Arc hitecture.pdf, (Accessed on August 23, 2015).
- Franke, B. 2010. "Steady but Uneven Progress: The Operationalization of the African Standby Force' in: Besada, H. eds. *Crafting an African Peace and Security Architecture*.

- Addressing Regional Peace and Conflict in the 21st Century. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Group, Pp. 179-199.
- Gebresilassie F H (2012). 'Collective Security at Stake? Challenges of the Current Collective Security System.' Pp.1-21.
- Hooker, R.D. (2012). *Building unbreakable units*. http://www.usafa.af.mil/jscope/JSCOPE98/HOOK98.HTM.
- Iliya, J. (1998). 'Rwanda Crisis, Lessons for Nigeria'. Lecture Delivered at NWC Course 8, Abuja.
- Jackson R , (2015). 'Violent internal conflicts and the African state: towards a framework of analysis'. *Journal of Contemporary African Studies* 20(1), pp.29-52, http://cadair.aber. ac.uk/ dspace/handle/2160/1953 (accessed 14 August 2015).
- Jackson, R. (2006) 'Africa's wars: overview, causes, the challenges of conflict transformation', in Furley O and May R (eds), *Ending Africa's wars: progressing to peace*, Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Jacobsen, K and Johannes, R (2012). East Africa: Regional Security Organizations and Dynamics. Danish Institute for International Studies. Copenhagen, Denmark ·
- Jowell M. and Fanta E. (2012). 'Regionalizing Peace and Security in Eastern Africa: credible Hope or Elusive Dream'Pp.1-38. .
- Kagwanja P (2013). 'Enhancing Capacity for Regional Peace and Security through Peace Operations Training', *Issue briefs series, issue No. 5, third quarter*, Karen: International Peace Support Training Centre (IPSTC).
- Kagwanja, Peter. (2006) 'Counterterrorism in the Horn of Africa: New security frontiers, old

- Karangizi S, (2001) Subregional Agenda for Peace and Security: The Case of COMESA.

 Published in Peace, Human Security and Conflict Prevention in Africa Proceedings of the

 UNESCO-ISS Expert Meeting held in Pretoria, 23 24 July 2001
- Kasumba, Y. (2010). 'An Overview of the African Standby Force (ASF)', In: De Coning, C. and Kasumba, Y. eds. *The Civilian Dimension of the African Standby Force*. Mount Edgecombe: AU & ACCORD, p.1-19.
- Kennedy, P. (2006). The Parliament of Man. New York: Random House Publishing Group
- Kimathi L. (2010). 'A Common Agenda of Post-Conflict Reconstruction among Eastern Africa's sub-Regional Organizations: Exploring the Challenges', *Occasional paper series 1. No.*2, Karen: International Peace Support Training Centre. Pp.1-30.
- Kinzel W (2008). 'The African Standby Force of the African Union: The Ambitious Plans, Wide Regional Disparities: An Intermediate Appraisal', Berlin: StiftungWissenschaft und Politik.
- Kruys, G.P.H. (2010). 'Combat readiness with specific reference to armies. In M. Hough & L. du Plessis (Eds), *Selected military issues with specific reference to the Republic of South Africa*. Pp.87-105. Pretoria: Institute for Strategic Studies.
- Lefebvre, J. A., (1991) Arms for the Horn: U.S. Security Policy in Ethiopia and Somalia, 1953-1991, Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press,
- Lefort, Rene. (2008). 'Ethiopia: A Heretical Revolution?' London: Zed Press.
- Lewis, I. M & Mayall, J (2007). 'Somalia in The New Interventionism, 1991-1994: United Nations Experience in Cambodia, Former Yugoslavia and Somalia'. Mayall, James (ed.)

 New York: Cambridge University Press

- Makau wa Mutua. (1995). 'Putting Humpty Dumpty back together: the dilemmas of the post-colonial African state', *Brooklyn Journal of International Law* 21.
- Marchal, Roland (2006) "Chad/Darfur: How two crises merge", *Review of African Political Economy*, 33(109)
- Markakis, J. (2005). 'Environmental Degradation and Social Conflict in the Horn of Africa" in Conflicts in East Africa" in Nhema, Alfred G. (ed) *The Quest for Peace in Africa*. Addis Ababa: International Books with OSSREA,
- McClure, P. & Broughton, W. (2009). 'Measuring the cohesion of military communities'. *Armed Forces and Society*, 26(3):Pp. 473- 487.
- Menkhaus, K (2003). 'State Collapse in Somalia: Second Thoughts'. Review of African Political Economy. 30; 97: 405-422
- Mingst, K. (1999). Essentials of International Relations. New York: W. W. Norton & Company Inc. Pg. 1- 325.
- Miranda V et al (2012). 'Towards a Stronger Africa-EU Cooperation on Peace and Security: The Role of African Regional Organizations and Civil Society', *IAI Working Papers*, Roma: IstitutoAffariInt ernazionali.
- Møller B (2009). 'Africa's Sub-Regional Organizations: Seamless Web or Patchwork? Crisis States Working Paper no.56. Danish Institute for International Studies.
- Mozersky, D and Prendergast, J (2004). 'Love Thy Neighbor: Regional Intervention in Sudan's
- Mumma-Martinon CA (2013). 'Efforts towards Conflict Prevention in the Eastern African Region: The Role of Regional Economic Communities and Regional Mechanisms', Occasional paper, series 1, No. 1. Karen: International Peace Support Training Centre (IPSTC)

- Mwaura, C. & Schmeid, S (eds.) (2002): Early Warning and Conflict Management in the Horn of Africa .Lawrenceville, NJ: Red Sea Press.P.45.
- Mwenda, AM. (2006). 'Personalizing Power in Uganda'." *Journal of Democracy*, 18 (3), July 200 7 and Abbink, J, "Discomfiture of Democracy? The 2005 Election Crisis in Ethiopia and its aftermath", *African Affairs* 105(419)
- Naldi, G.J (2002). 'Future Trends in Human Rights in Africa: The increased role of the OAU', in: Malcolm Evans and Rachel Murray (eds.), *The African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights: the System in Practice*, 1986-2000. (Barley: Nadini Press), p. 23.
- Ndomo, A. (2009) 'Regional Economic Communities in Africa. A Progress Overview Study Commissioned by GTZ.' Nairobi.
- Nibishaka E. (2012). "Peacekeeping In Africa -Can The African Regional Standby Forces

 Deliver?" International Politics. Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung. Southern Africa. Pp 1-10.
- Plano, J, Riggs, R. and Ziring L (2005). 'The United Nations: International Organization and World Politics', (4th Ed). Canada: Thomson Wadworth.
- Pool, D, (2001) From Guerillas to Government. The Eritrean People's Liberation Front,
- Prendergast, J. and Mozersky, D. (2004) "Love Thy Neighbor: Regional Intervention in Sudan's Civil War", *Harvard International Review*, 26 (1).
- Prunier, G, (2004) "Rebel movements and Proxy Warfare: Uganda, Sudan and the Congo-Regional Economic Communities" Harare, Zimbabwe.
- Robinson, C. (2014). 'The Eastern Africa Standby Force: History and Prospects', *International Peacekeeping*, pp. 1-17.
- Rummel, R. J. 'Power, genocide and mass murder', *Journal of Peace Research*, vol. 31:1 (Jan.1994). Pp. 1-10.

- Sarjoh Bah A. et al. (2014) 'African Peace and Security Architecture: A Handbook.' Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung (FES), Addis Ababa Office and the African Union (AU).
- Schwarzenberger, G. (1951) Power Politics: A Study of International Society (2nd ed.)
 London.Pp.1-898.
- Spillman, Kurt R. and Günther Bächler (Eds.) *Environmental Crisis: Regional Conflicts and*Ways of Cooperation. Environment and Conflicts Project Occasional Paper No. 14. Zuri

 ch: Center for Security Studies and Conflict Research.
- Stahn, C. (2007). 'Responsibility to Protect: Political Rhetoric or Emerging Legal Norm? 'The American Journal of International Law, 101(1). Pp. 99-120.
- Thakur, R. (2006). 'From Peacekeeping to Peace Enforcement: The UN Operation in Somalia'.

 The Journal of Modern African Studies. 32; 3: 387-410
- Thomas, T.L. & O'Hara, C.P. (2011). 'Combat Stress in Chechnya: The Equal Opportunity Disorder'. *Army Medical Department Journal*, Retrieved June 09, 2015 from the World Wide Web: http://call.army.mil/fmso/fmsopubs/issues/Stress.html
- Ulusoy H 'Possible transformation of collective security arrangements in the post-September 11 Era.' Pp.1-17.
- Van der Waag I, J (1989.). 'Interstate Collective Security: its development and decline in Scientia Militaria,' South African Journal of Military Studies, Vol 19, no 1, Pp1-35.
- Walt, S M. (1991) 'The Renaissance of Security Studies,' International Studies Quarterly, Vol. 35:2, Pp. 211-239.
- Wolfers, A. (1952). 'National Security as an Ambiguous Symbol.' Political Science Quarterly 67, Pp. 481-502.

Government Documents:

African Peace and Security Architecture (APSA) 2010 Assessment Study.

African Union Handbook 2014: A Guide for Those Working With and Within the African Union.

Article 2 of the AU Peace and Security Council Protocol.

AU (2011), The AU Commission and the Eastern Africa Standby Force Coordination Mechanism Sign a Memorandum of Understanding to Deploy Personnel to AMISOM, Available at: http://www.au.int/en/content/au commission and eastern-africa-standby-force-coordination-mechanism-sign-memorandum-unders (Accessed on August 23, 2015).

Brett Julian. Report on The Inter-relationship between the African Peace and Security

Architecture, the Global Peace and Security Architecture and Regional Initiatives For the

Danish Embassy in Addis Ababa. 24 October 2013

Constitutive Act of the African Union 2001, Article 4(h).

EASF (2011): Policy Framework for the Establishment of the Eastern Africa Standby Force (EASF)(03/03/2014).

EASF (2011): Policy Framework for the Establishment of the Eastern Africa Standby Force

EASF website at http://www.easfcom.org/index.php/about-easf accessed on 3 September 2015

East Africa regional conflict and instability assessment final report U.S. agency for international development 1300 Pennsylvania Avenue, New York

Eastern African Chiefs of Defence Staff (EACDS) document, 2005.

ECOWAS A/ SP5/5/81 Relating to Mutual Assistance on Defense, Freetown, Sierra Leone, May 1981.

- ECOWAS protocol on Non-Aggression, Lagos, April 22, 1978.
- EU Assessment Report Moving Africa Forward: Africa Peace and Security Architecture, 2010,
- IGAD Policy Framework for the Establishment of the African Standby Force and Military Staff
 Committee, adopted by the African Chiefs of Defence and Staff at their third meeting
 held in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, on 14 May 2003 (EXP/ASFMSC/2(1).
- Memorandum of Understanding on cooperation in the area of peace and security between the African Union, the Regional Economic Communities and the Coordinating Mechanisms of the Regional Standby Brigades. June 2008.
- Moving Africa Forward: Africa peace and Security Architecture (APSA):2010 Assessment Study. Pg. 40-41.
- Protocol A/SP1/12/01 on Democracy and Good Governance- Supplementary to the Protocol relating to the Mechanism for Conflict Prevention, Management, Resolution,

 Peacekeeping and Security," Dakar, Senegal, December 21,2001.
- Protocol on Relations between the African Economic Community and the Regional Economic Communities, 1998.
- Protocol on the Establishment of a Conflict Early Warning and Response Mechanism for IGAD Member States" at www.igad.org/library/docs/cewarn_protocol.pdf.
- Protocol relating to the Establishment of the Peace and Security Council of the African Union,
 Assembly of the African Union, First Ordinary Session, Durban, 9 July 2002, URL
 http://www.au2002.gov.za/docs/summit council/secprot.htm. See also Williams, R.,
 'National defence reform and the African Union', *SIPRI Yearbook 2004: Armaments,*Disarmament and International Security (Oxford University Press: Oxford, 2004), pp.
 231-50.

- Protocol Relating to the Establishment of the Peace and Security Council of the African Union.

 Pp. 1-38.
- Report Commissioned by the African Union's Peace and Security Department and Adopted by the Third Meeting of the Chief Executives and Senior Officials of the AU, RECs and RMs on the Implementation of the MoU on Cooperation in the Area of Peace and Security, held from 4-10 November 2010, Zanzibar, Tanzania.

The Agreement establishing IGAD

- THE KAMPALA DOCUMENT: Towards a Conference on Security, Stability, Development and Cooperation in Africa Kampala 19- 22 May 1991
- The Khartoum Declaration" of the 8th Summit of Heads of State and Government, 23 November 2000, at www.igad.org/library/docs/8th_summit_decleration_khartoum.pdf.

The UN Charter

- UNDP, (2011), "Peace Support Operation Training and Institutional Capacity Enhancement at the International Peace Support Training Centre- Phase II", Available at: http://www.undp.org/content/dam/kenya/docs/Peace%20Building/UNDP-IPSTC_PROJECT_DOCUMENT_-FINAL-1-.pdf, (Accessed on August 23, 2015).
- United Nations (2007). Comprehensive report on strengthening the capacity of the United

 Nations to manage and sustain peace operations. A/61/858,

 http://daccessddsny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N07/307/66/PDF/N0730766.pdf? Open

 Element (Accessed: August 23, 2015).
- United Nations Security Council. (1992). Resolution 743, S/RES/743, 21 February, 1992. (http://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=S/RES/743(1992)). (Accessed August 23, 2015).

United Nations Security Council. (1993). Resolution 814, S/RES/814, 26 March, 1993. http://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=S/RES/814(1993)) (Accessed: August 23, 2015).

Papers and Reports

- Nyong'o, P A, Governance and Democratization in Eastern Africa: Overcoming Conflicts and
 Initiating Political Integration, paper presented at the International Peace
 Academy/Makerere University/Africa Peace Forum seminar in Entebbe, Uganda, 16-18
 December 2002.
- Report on 'Collective Security' in Borquin M (ed.) *Collective Security, A Record of the Seventh*and Eighth International Studies Conferences, Paris 1934; London 1935. P. 3-6.
- The African Peace and Security Architecture Conference Report Addis Ababa, 14-15 September 2009.

ANNEX I: QUESTIONNAIRE

CIVILIAN, MILITARY AND POLICE OFFICIALS OF THE EASTERN AFRICA STANDBY FORCE IN KAREN, NAIROBI, KENYA

My name is Nina Helga Omanyo. I am a post-graduate student at the University of Nairobi conducting a research on Regional Collective Security Mechanisms in Eastern Africa: the Case of the Eastern Africa Standby Force (EASF) from 2004- 2015. This research is part of my Masters programme in International Conflict Management.

I kindly request you to assist me in conducting this research by completing the attached questionnaire. The information provided in this questionnaire will be handled in a confidential manner and will be only used for this study and not shared nor used for any other purpose.

Thank you for taking your time to complete the questionnaire.

From which member country of the EASF do you belong to?

Question 1

•
Burundi
Djibouti,
Ethiopia
Kenya
Rwanda
Seychelles
Somalia
Sudan
The Comoros
Uganda

Questi	ion 2
Which	component of the EASF do you belong to?
	Civilian
	Military
	Police
Questi	ion 3
For ho	w long have you been working at the EASF?
	Less than one year
	1-3 years
	3-5 years
	More than 5 years
Questi	ion 4
Please	indicate your gender.
	Male
	Female
Questi	ion 5
In whi	ch EASF structure are you deployed?
	EASFCOM

□ PLANELM

Question 6		
What is your designation in the EASF? Briefly indicate your role too.		
Question 7		
Have you ever participated in any training while working for the EASF? Please indicate the type		
of training.		
□ Individual		
\square none		
Question 8		
In how many joint exercises under the EASF have you participated?		
☐ More than three		
□ three		
□ two		
\Box one		
\square none		
Question 9		
Have you participated before in any peace support operations under the auspices of the EASF		

within the region and beyond?

□ Yes			
□ No			
If the answer is 'yes', please state where.			
Question 10			
Apart from the EASF, which other sub-regional organization in the Eastern Africa region is your			
country a Member State?			
□ COMESA			
☐ Any other			
Question 11			
In your opinion, what is the greatest challenge that affects the performance of the EASF? Kindly			
indicate:			
Question 12			
In your opinion, is the EASF ready for peace keeping duties in the region?			
□ Yes			
\sqcap No			

THANK YOU